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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02065 
CASE NAME: SIMONE  VS.  ESTATE OF LEON J. DWULET 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Minor’s compromise is approved.  The court will sign the order provided. 

 

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02065 
CASE NAME: SIMONE  VS.  ESTATE OF LEON J. DWULET 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Minor’s compromise is approved.  The court will sign the order provided. 

 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02105 
CASE NAME: MICHELE JOHNSON VS. NADER STARK 
HEARING ON MOTION TO BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL 
FILED BY MICHELE JOHNSON 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Unopposed motion for plaintiff’s counsel to be relieved is granted.  Ms. Law should prepare an 
order after hearing reflecting the upcoming court dates of the Issue Conference and Trial. 

 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02556 
CASE NAME: BENYAMINI VS. CLARY 
HEARING ON MOTION TO SET ASIDE DISMISSAL BASED ON ATTORNEY ERROR 
FILED BY ROBERT BENYAMINI 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Motion to set aside dismissal based on attorney error is granted.  CCP 473(b).  A CMC is 
scheduled for October 1, 2019 at 8:30 a.m. 
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 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-01105 
CASE NAME: PAUL VS. DUDUM 
HEARING ON MOTION TO SET ASIDE DISMISSAL 
FILED BY MEERA PAUL 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a motion to set aside dismissal (the “Motion”) filed by Plaintiff in pro per, 
Meera Paul.  

For the following reasons, the motion to set aside dismissal is denied. 

Factual Background 

Plaintiff brought this action for professional negligence against defendant chiropractors J.D. 
Dudum and Richard Robertshaw (“Defendants”).  Plaintiff was allegedly injured by Dr. Dudum 
on March 6, 2017 and by Dr. Robertshaw on April 17, 2017, following treatment for a significant 
work injury on March 3, 2017.  (See court’s 11/28/18 ruling on the demurrer by Dr. Robertshaw 
and Proposed Amended Complaint at 2:24-25 and 3:25-4:22.)  However, Plaintiff did not file her 
Complaint until May 30, 2018. Because the face of the complaint disclosed that the one-year 
prong of the statute of limitations for medical malpractice pursuant to CCP §340.5 had run, the 
Court sustained defendant Robertshaw’s demurrer on November 28, 2018.  The court granted 
leave to amend because Plaintiff argued the statute of limitations was tolled for 90 days 
pursuant to CCP § 364 (d).  On December 19, 2018, the court subsequently sustained the 
demurrer of defendant Dudum, also with leave to amend, because it was unopposed.  The court 
gave Plaintiff until January 21, 2019 to file an amended complaint as to both defendants.  In its 
November 28, 2018 order on Dr. Robertshaw’s demurrer, the court also instructed Plaintiff on 
what she needed to plead:  “In addition to attaching the [CCP § 364] letter to her complaint, 
Plaintiff should allege who received the letter, when and by what method. She should also 
include any other facts she has that support her argument that this letter tolled the statute of 
limitations for 90 days.”  

Plaintiff failed to timely amend her Complaint and, as a result, on February 20, 2019 both 
Defendants obtained orders dismissing Plaintiff’s case.  On February 27, 2019, Plaintiff filed 
an “Opposition” to the court’s February 20, 2019 dismissal order.  The court treated the 
“Opposition” as a motion to set aside the dismissal.  The court denied that motion on 
March 20, 2019, saying it did not state a valid legal basis for setting aside the dismissal.  
The court stated that if Plaintiff filed a motion under CCP § 473 (b) she would need to file a 
declaration showing that the case had been dismissed because of her mistake, inadvertence, 
surprise, or excusable neglect.  

On May 8, 2019 Plaintiff filed the instant Motion to Set Aside Dismissal accompanied by her 
proposed amended complaint, but not supported by a declaration. 

Analysis 

The law states that a litigant representing herself is entitled to the “same treatment as if 
represented by an attorney – no different, no better, no worse.”  (Doran v. Dreyer (1956) 143 
Cal.App.2d 289, 290 (quoting another case).)  While it is difficult for self-represented litigants to 
learn proper procedures as well as the applicable substantive law, they are nevertheless 
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required to do so.  (See Dowden v. Sup. Ct.  (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 126, 129; Rappleyea v. 
Campbell (1994) 8 Cal.4th 975, 984.) 

Despite the court’s previous instruction about the section under which her motion would likely be 
brought, Plaintiff has nevertheless still failed to cite section 473 (b) of the Code of Civil 
Procedure in her moving papers. 

More importantly, despite the court’s previous admonition that Plaintiff would have to submit 
evidence (i.e., a declaration) that the dismissal was due to her mistake, inadvertence, surprise, 
or excusable neglect, she has failed to file any. 

Even if the court were to overlook these procedural defects, it would be required to deny this 
motion.  Nothing in any of the papers that Plaintiff has filed shows that she suffered the 
dismissal because of mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect.  Plaintiff does not 
even mention these grounds, or any facts to support them, in her motion.  Plaintiff does not deny 
knowing of the deadline she was given to file an amended complaint, January 21, 2019.  She 
does not provide any explanation in her motion for her failure to file an amended complaint by 
that deadline.  In the Proposed Amended Complaint, she states that as a lay person she has 
had a hard time navigating the court process.  (Proposed Amended Complaint at 14:12-13.)  
However, the courts have held that being self-represented does not justify a finding of excusable 
neglect.  (See Burnete v. La Casa Dana Apartments (2007) 148 Cal.App.4th 1262, 1264.) 

Plaintiff may be pointing to distress and health problems to explain neglecting to timely amend 
the complaint. While disabilities may sometimes be considered excusable neglect, to assert this, 
a party must indicate how the severity of the condition limited her activity and provide a doctor’s 
declaration to confirm the statements. (See Davis v. Thayer (1980) 113 Cal.App.3d 892, 909 
(finding statement that plaintiff was under a doctor’s care for a heart attack and taking 
medication insufficient, absent more information).) In this instance, Plaintiff does not provide any 
specificity regarding how her distress affected her ability to file the amended complaint nor does 
she provide a doctor’s support for such claims.  

“[I]f a party fails to show that a judgment has been taken against him through his mistake, 
inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect, the court may not grant relief.  It has no discretion 
[to do so].” (Iott v. Franklin (1988) 206 Cal.App.3d 521, 524.) Because Plaintiff has not shown 
judgment was taken against her because of her mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable 
neglect, the Court has no option but to deny relief. 

 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-01927 
CASE NAME: BELCHER VS. CSAA 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY CSAA INSURANCE SERVICES, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Defendant CSAA Insurance Services, Inc.’s (“CSAA” or “Defendant”) has demurred to 
the Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) as uncertain and as legally insufficient.  The general 
demurrer is sustained without leave to amend.   
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SUMMARY OF THE SAC 

 This is an interference with contractual relations and interference with prospective 
economic advantage case.  Plaintiff Anthony Belcher (“Belcher”) is an independent contractor 
for an LLC, called Westech Environmental (“Westech”); it does environmental, health and safety 
work for various clients, including Defendant CSAA Insurance Services, Inc.  (“CSAA”).  In this 
lawsuit, Plaintiff Belcher contends that CSAA has deliberately interfered with its contractual 
relationship with Westech and Westech’s clients.   

CSAA’S ALLEGED INTERFERENCE WITH BELCHER’S INDEPENDENT CONTRACTING 
WITH WESTECH 

 Plaintiff is a “certified Hazardous Material Specialist” and Industrial Hygienist.  Belcher is 
“licensed through the Department of Occupational Safety and Health as an Asbestos 
Consultant” and is also an approved trainer for general industry standards through the United 
States Department of Occupational Health Safety Agency (“OSHA”).  (SAC, paragraph 1)   
Belcher is an “at will” contractor for WesTech. (SAC, paragraph 2)  CSAA is an insurance 
company, offering property and casualty insurance services.  (SAC, paragraphs 3, 9)  CSAA 
was Westech’s “most preferred and oldest clients.”  (SAC, paragraph 15) 

 Since 2006, Belcher has worked as Westech’s “third party independent project oversight 
Industrial Hygienist” on various projects, including ones for CSAA.  (SAC, paragraph 8)  From 
2006 to 2014, there were no significant issues with the work Belcher performed for CSAA 
through Westech.  (SAC, paragraph 10)   

 However, in 2014, Belcher noticed that projects “were not clearing re-occupancy 
inspections without corrections as had previously been the case.”  Belcher also began hearing 
complaints about worker safety from contractor, DKI Services, and subcontractor, Anderson 
Group International (AGI”).   (SAC, paragraph 11) 

 On August 26, 2014, Belcher sent a “Notice of Concern” to DKI and AGI.  (SAC, 
paragraph 12 and Exhibit A1)  On the same day, Belcher sent the same “Notice of Concern” to 
CSAA’s Adjuster, Benjamin Mitten.  (SAC, paragraph 12 and Exhibit A2)  The Notice contained 
no details as to what the Cal/OSHA violations were.  (SAC, A1 and A2) 

 Two days later, on August 28, 2014, Bret Smith of DKI Services sent an email to 
everyone who had received Plaintiff’s letter, including Plaintiff.  (SAC, paragraph 12 and A3)  
The email read, in full:     

Nick [Magnuson of CSAA], we have reviewed the attached letter that was sent to 
Ben [the CSAA Adjuster] and copied to so many of our folks, both to AGI and 
some of our corporate team.  I have touched base with all of them, and no one 
has been given any information on a specific claim or knows much about this 
company.  Both Bill Weber and I have attempted to reach out to Mr. Belcher 
unsuccessfully.  At this point, we are all in agreement that it was simply a poor 
attempt at marketing the DKI organization to establish educational opportunities 
on the part of Wes-Tech environmental. 

Certainly, if any information is brought to us in regards to AGI or any of our 
service providers on a specific claim, we will review the situation immediately.  
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We apologize for any inconvenience or alarm that this letter may have caused 
and assure you we will continue to pursue the exact reason this letter was sent.  I 
will also be reaching out to the California Department of Occupational Safety and 
Health as well as the California Department of Insurance to validate the need for 
this type of correspondence, given its vague content.  

Thanks,  

Bret  

(SAC, paragraph 12 and Exhibit A3)  

 On September 3, 2014, Mr. Magnuson of CSAA requested more information from 
Plaintiff about the “suspected” OSHA violations referred to in his August 26th letter.  (First 
Amended Complaint (“FAC”), paragraph 14)  (This allegation is omitted from the SAC) 

 On October 24, 2014, Plaintiff sent a reply to Magnuson at CSAA.  Belcher accuses 
CSAA of wrongdoing; specifically, instructing remediation contractors and others not to work 
with Wes-Tech Environmental and making threats to Belcher’s clients.  (SAC, paragraph 13 and 
Exhibit A4) 

 On October 31, 2014, CSAA’s Associate General Counsel, C. Robert Sturm, responded 
to Plaintiff’s letter of October 24th.  Mr. Sturm stated that Plaintiff had “provided no additional 
information regarding the substance of any interactions with CSAA personnel or the nature, 
timing or circumstances of any issues that might have been raised to your attention.”  Mr. Sturm 
also denied having any “axes to grind with Wes-Tech Environmental.”  He stated:  CSAA has 
“absolutely no idea why or how you might misperceive otherwise – let alone conjure false claims 
of proactive sabotage.”  (SAC, paragraph 15 and Exhibit A5) 

 Immediately after these interactions begun, Belcher contends that “work projects to 
Westech from CSAA declined dramatically.”  (SAC, paragraph 15)   

 Plaintiff contends that CSAA retaliated against him for blowing the whistle on CSAA’s 
unsafe practices.  (SAC, paragraphs 15, 66)   

CSAA’S ALLEGED INTERFERENCE WITH BELCHER’S APPLICATION TO BECOME AN 
ASBESTOS SUPERVISOR TRAINING PROVIDER 

 On or about February 12, 2014, approximately seven (7) months prior to the events 
described above, Belcher applied to Cal/OSHA to become an Asbestos Supervisor Training 
Provider.  (SAC, paragraph 17)   

 Belcher alleges, “on information and belief,” that Smith (an employee with DKI Services) 
contacted Cal/OSHA and “pressured” two Cal/OSHA employees, Jeff Ferrell and Kristy Schultz, 
not to process his application for Asbestos Supervisor Training Provider.  (SAC, paragraph 17)  
His application was never processed.  (SAC, paragraph 17)  Plaintiff ultimately filed suit against 
the State of California, Department of Industrial Relations Division Occupational Safety Health 
Asbestos, Kristy Schultz and Jeff Ferrell for their refusal to process his application.  Belcher 
sought $364,800 in damages.  (SAC, paragraph 17 and B1) 
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 Plaintiff alleges that CSAA “was the mastermind behind this conspiracy and wrongful act 
of using intimidation methods on Cal/OSHA employees, Jeff Ferrell and Kristy Schultz, that lead 
to their refusal to process Plaintiff’s application.”  (SAC, paragraph 17) 

CSAA’S ALLEGED INTERFERENCE THROUGH CONTACTS WITH BELCHER AT THE 
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE DIVERSITY TASK FORCE  

 The California Department of Insurance established a Diversity Task Force in 2011.  
Among other things, it makes recommendations about diversity in the insurance industry.  
(SAC, paragraphs18-30)  There are a minimum of 12 people on the Task Force and a maximum 
of 15; all are appointed by the Insurance Commissioner.  (SAC, paragraph 24)  The appointees 
to the Task Force cannot engage in incompatible activities.  (SAC, paragraphs 31-40) 

 Belcher is not (and has never been) a member of the Diversity Task Force.  
However, in the middle of 2014, Belcher began attending Diversity Task Force Meetings.  
(SAC, paragraph 41)   

 During the 2014 Diversity Task Force meetings, Belcher worked on a subcommittee, 
where he met Salvadore Peinado, Jr. (“Peinado”).  Belcher is “informed and believes” that 
Peinado works for CSAA and is an appointed member of the Diversity Task Force.  (SAC, 
paragraph 42) 

 Belcher contends that CSAA contacted Westech on October 30, 2014 to set up a 
“match-making meeting session” for the December 8, 2014 Diversity Summit in Los Angeles, 
California.  (SAC, paragraph 43)  At the Diversity Summit on December 8, 2014, Peinado, 
“CSAA’s acting agent,” denied that any match-making meeting had ever been set up, but 
allowed Belcher to speak [to him?] anyway.  (SAC, paragraph 44) 

 Belcher showed Peinado a sample prototype of a program Belcher had created, called 
CalCris, which helped consumers and small businesses to determine “which insurance 
companies had the best diversity ranking position.”  (SAC, paragraph 45)  Peinado listened and 
asked if he could keep the sample prototype.  Belcher obliged.  (SAC, paragraph 45) 

 Peinado never followed up with Belcher, as he had expected.  Plaintiff concluded that 
Peinado would “work to diminish the value of the prototype.”  (SAC, paragraph 46) 

 In 2015, Belcher presented his CalCris prototype to the Chief of Staff for the California 
Department of Insurance Diversity Task Force.  The then Chief, Melanie Ramil, liked the idea 
and “provided Plaintiff with substantial information and resources to develop the concept.”  
(SAC, paragraph 47)  

 By late 2017, the Diversity Task Force no longer supported Belcher’s idea.  
Benjamin Phillips-Lesenana took over the positon as Chief of Staff and “informed Belcher that 
the Task Force would no longer participate or promote the concept, without explanation.”  
(SAC, paragraph 48) 

 Belcher alleges Peinado committed wrongful “incompatible activities” as a board 
member of the Diversity Task Force by the conduct set out above:  (1) requesting a match-
making meeting with Plaintiff and then denying he did so; (2) receiving a sample prototype of 
CalCris and then showing disdain for it by his failure to follow up with Belcher, and (3) 
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influencing the new Task Force Chief to rescind staff support for the CalCris idea.  
(SAC, paragraph 52) 

CSAA’S ALLEGED INTERFERENCE WITH PLAINTIFF’S RELATIONSHIP WITH WESTECH 
AND WESTECH’S CLIENTS 

 In addition to CSAA, Westech developed “a client list of established and mutually 
profitable contractual relationships” and performed “200 or more projects” a year.  
(SAC, paragraph 53)   

 On May 31, 2017, the Diversity Task Force held its quarterly meeting in Sacramento.  
During the public comment portion, Belcher spoke “on matters concerning the Task Force’s 
objectives.”  (SAC paragraph 54 and Exhibit C1) 

 At the end of the meeting, Dwight Ku, an attorney for CSAA, approached Plaintiff and 
gave Belcher his business card.  (SAC, paragraphs 55, 56 and Exhibit C2)  Ku also shared that 
he had “had a favorable response regarding Belcher’s public comment.”  (SAC, paragraph 56)   

 Ku suggested that Belcher share suggestions with CSAA’s Peinado.  (SAC, paragraph 
57)  Peinado approached Ku and Belcher, and Ku repeated his suggestion to Peinado about a 
meeting.  (SAC, paragraph 57) Peinado told Plaintiff that he was “busy until the middle of July 
2017.”  (SAC, paragraph 58 and Exhibit C2)  

 Plaintiff and Peinado ultimately met on July 27, 2017.  Belcher “provided CSAA a plan 
for a state-wide Environmental Health & Safety Networking Program.”  (SAC, paragraph 60)  
Peinado expressed little interest; rather, he only wanted to know the identities of Westech’s 
clients and was “very persistent and very intimidating” about it.  (SAC, paragraph 61)  Plaintiff 
reluctantly gave him that information.  (SAC, paragraph 61) 

 Plaintiff contends that one (1) year after the July 27, 2017 meeting, Westech’s total 
projects were reduced to four (4) for the 12 month period, whereas before Westech averaged 
200 projects per year.  (SAC, paragraphs 62, 63)   

 Belcher contends that CSAA used the May 2017 Task Force meeting as a “ruse” to 
persuade Plaintiff to meet with Peinado.  Peinado then pressured and intimidated him into 
revealing Westech’s clients.  (SAC, paragraph 64)  In addition to interfering with Plaintiff’s 
relationship with Westech and its clients, Peinado committed another “incompatible activity” as a 
member of the Diversity Task Force.  (SAC, paragraph 65)  

THE COMPLAINT AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

 On September 14, 2018, Plaintiff filed this action against CSAA.  The original Complaint 
alleged four causes of action:  (1) interference with contractual relations; (2) negligent 
interference with prospective economic advantage; (3) intentional interference with prospective 
economic advantage, and (4) violation of Gov’t Code Section 53243.4 (Abuse of Authority). 

 Defendant demurred to the original Complaint.  Plaintiff responded with several requests 
for judicial notice and an objection to Defendant’s meet and confer declaration.  Belcher 
otherwise filed no opposition.   
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 On January 9, 2019, the court overruled the objection to the meet and confer 
declaration and sustained the demurrer with 10 days leave to amend.  See Minute Orders, 
dated January 9, 2017. 

 On January 18, 2019, Plaintiff filed a FAC.  It alleged five causes of action:  
(1) interference with contractual relations; (2) negligent interference with prospective economic 
advantage; (3) intentional interference with prospective economic advantage; (4) violation of 
Gov’t Code Section 53243.4 (Abuse of Authority), and (5) unfair competition.   

 CSAA demurred to the FAC as well.  The court ruled on that demurrer on April 3, 2019.  
The fourth and fifth causes of action for violation of Gov’t Code Section 53243.4 and unfair 
competition were sustained without leave to amend.  Plaintiff was given leave to amend the 
first three causes of action.   

 The SAC was filed on April 10, 2019.  It alleged (1) interference with contractual 
relations; (2) negligent interference with prospective economic advantage, and (3) intentional 
interference with prospective economic advantage.   

 This demurrer and motion to strike by CSAA followed. 

DEMURRER 

INTERFERENCE WITH CONTRACTUAL RELATIONS  (FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION) 

 To state an actionable claim for intentional interference with contractual relations, 
a plaintiff must show:  (1) a valid contract between plaintiff and a third party; (2) defendant’s 
knowledge of the contract; (3) defendant’s intentional acts designed to induce a breach or 
disruption of contractual relationship; and (4) resulting damage.  See Pacific Gas & Electric Co. 
v. Bear Stearns & Co. (1990) 50 Cal.3d 1118, 1126; CACI 2201.   

 Defendant demurs to the first cause of action on three grounds:  (1) there can be no 
claim for interference with contract if the contract is “at will;” (2) the connection between CSAA’s 
conduct and Plaintiff’s resulting losses is conclusory, and (3) Plaintiff has not alleged a wrongful 
act, as required for this claim.  

 As to the first ground, Plaintiff is correct in pointing out that this court has already 
determined that an interference with contractual relations claim can be alleged with respect to 
“at will” relationships.  See Order Sustaining Defendant’s Demurrer to the First Amended 
Complaint With Leave to Amend as to the First Three Causes of Action and Without Leave 
to Amend as to the Fourth and Fifth Causes of Action, dated April 3, 2019.   

 The second ground for demurrer is well-taken.  After three attempts at pleading this 
claim, Belcher has not been able to set out sufficient facts to connect CSAA’s conduct to 
Plaintiff’s harm.  The SAC remains wholly conclusory.  See CCP Section 425.10; Burke v. 
Superior Court (1969) 71 Cal.2d 276, 279, fn. 4 (pleadings must conform to the general rule 
that a complaint must contain only allegations of ultimate facts as opposed to allegations of . . . 
legal conclusions. . .”); Pridonoff v. Balokovich (1951) 36 Cal.2d 788, 792 (boilerplate 
language insufficient).   

 Plaintiff contends that CSAA intentionally interfered with his independent contracting 
relationship with Westech and Westech’s clients by CSAA’s conduct, set out above.   However, 
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for each “interference” alleged by CSAA, there is only a conclusory (and wholly speculative) 
statement as to how that alleged interference was an intentional act designed to induce a 
breach or disrupt with relationship with Westech and Westech’s clients.  The interference 
allegations are taken in chronological order:    

 1. CSAA’s Alleged Interference with Belcher’s Application to Become an Asbestos 
Supervisor Training Provider:  Belcher contends that he applied to Cal/OSHA to become an 
Asbestos Supervisor Training Provider.  He did this in February 2014, seven (7) months prior to 
his Notice of Concern to CSAA, DKI and AGI regarding unspecified work safety concerns.  
Additionally, no employee of CSAA allegedly “pressured” two Cal/OSHA employees into 
refusing to process his application for Asbestos Supervisor Training Provider.  It was a DKI 
employee, Smith.  So, when Plaintiff alleges that CSAA “was the mastermind behind this 
conspiracy and wrongful act of using intimidation methods on Cal/OSHA employees,” one can 
plainly see that the allegation is based on no “facts.” 

 2. CSAA’s Alleged Interference through Contacts with Belcher at the California 
Department of Insurance Diversity Task Force:  Belcher contends that his interactions with 
Peinado, a CSAA employee, at the Diversity Task Force, lost him the support of the Task Force 
for his program, CalCris.  Again, the timing is wrong.  These interactions with Peinado allegedly 
occurred in “the middle of 2014.”  The Notice of Concern was issued by Belcher to CSAA on 
behalf of Westech at the end of August 2014.  That Peinado was even a CSAA employee or 
acting agent for CSAA is alleged on “information and belief.” 

 Moreover, there are no facts even showing that Peinado was even aware of the Notice 
of Concern.  He was not addressed (or cc’ed) in the email sent by Smith to AGI and CSAA 
regarding the Notice of Concern, nor was he part of any follow up conversations with Nick 
Magnuson of CSAA and Attorney General Counsel, C. Robert Sturm.  So, when Plaintiff alleges 
that Peinado showed “disdain” for the CalCris idea by failing to follow up with him and 
intentionally “influenced” the new Task Force Chief to rescind staff support for Plaintiff’s idea, 
there no facts in the SAC to support those hypothetical theories.   

 3. CSAA’s Alleged Interference with Belcher’s Independent Contracting with 
Westech:  In 2014, Belcher allegedly became concerned about certain projects and their 
“not clearing re-occupancy inspections without corrections.”  He also allegedly began hearing 
complaints about worker safety from contractor, DKI, and subcontractor, AGI.  On August 26, 
2014, Belcher sent a “Notice of Concern” about Cal/OSHA violations to DKI, AGI and CSAA. 
The Notice contained no details about the violations.  Accordingly, CSAA made efforts to obtain 
more information so that corrective action could be taken, if necessary.  Plaintiff apparently 
never provided any details about the Cal/OSHA violations to CSAA, but rather, accused CSAA 
of instructing remediation contractors not to work with Westech.  Such allegations of retaliation 
are entirely conclusory and based only on Plaintiff’s conjecture.   

 4. CSAA’s Alleged Interference with Plaintiff’s Relationship with Westech and 
Westech’s Clients:  Almost three years after the alleged retaliation for the Notice of Concern 
(on May 31, 2017), Belcher allegedly was introduced to Peinado by another employee of CSAA, 
Ku, at a quarterly meeting of the Diversity Task Force.  Belcher contends that he then met with 
Peinado in person on July 27, 2017, where provided Peinado “a state-wide Environmental 
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Health & Safety Networking Program.”  Peinado allegedly showed little interest but instead 
“pressured and intimidated him into revealing Westech’s clients.”  

 The SAC further alleges that Peinado used the May 2017 Task Force meeting as a 
“ruse” to persuade Plaintiff to meet with him and reveal Westech’s clients, so that CSAA could 
interfere with Westech’s projects.  One year after the July 27, 2017 meeting with Peinado, 
Westech’s total projects were reduced to four (4) for the 12 month period, whereas before 
Westech averaged 200 projects per year.    

 These allegations contain nothing but conclusory speculation.  Initially, it is worth noting 
that Plaintiff’s allegations regarding Peinado are wholly inconsistent.  In one scenario, Plaintiff 
meets Peinado in December 2014 and presents his CalCris sample prototype and Peinado 
works behind the scenes to shoot it down through 2015.  In this scenario, he meets Peinado at a 
quarterly meeting of the Diversity Task Force in late May 2017, almost three years later, where 
he unexplainably insists on a list of Westech’s clients.  Why CSAA, an insurance company, 
would have any interest in Westech’s clients is entirely unexplained, as is the conclusion that 
they were “stolen” from Westech by CSAA.   

 In addition to Plaintiff’s failure to plead facts which show Defendant’s intentional acts 
designed to induce a disruption in his contractual relationship with Westech and Westech’s 
clients, Belcher has still failed to allege an “independently wrongful act.”  See Reeves v. 
Hanlon (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1140, 1145; Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin (2003) 29 Cal.4th 
1134, 1159.    

 In Reeves, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 1145, Court held that “inducing the termination of an at-
will employment relation may be actionable under the standard applicable to claims for 
intentional interference with prospective economic advantage.”  Id. at 1144, 1152.  However, to 
recover for a defendant’s interference with an at-will employment relation, a plaintiff must plead 
and prove that the defendant engaged in an independently wrongful act – i.e., an act 
proscribed by some constitutional, statutory, regulatory, common law, or other determinable 
legal standard.”  Id. at 1145, citing Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 
1134, 1159.   

 Plaintiff contends that the following are independently wrongful acts, which satisfy this 
requirement:  violation of the whistleblower protective laws in Title 18, Part 1, Chapter 73, 
Section 1514A (2016); violation of the “incompatible activities” ethical rules of the Department 
of Insurance.     

 18 U.S.C. Section 1514A is inapplicable and is also pled as a conclusion.  Section 
1514A is entitled, “Civil action to protect against retaliation in fraud cases.”  The section reads, 
in relevant part: 

(a) Whistleblower Protection for Employees of Publicly Traded Companies.—
No company with a class of securities registered under section 12 of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78l), or that is required to file reports 
under section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78o(d)) 
including any subsidiary or affiliate whose financial information is included in the 
consolidated financial statements of such company, or nationally recognized 
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statistical rating organization (as defined in section 3(a) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78c), or any officer, employee, contractor, 
subcontractor, or agent of such company or nationally recognized statistical 
rating organization, may discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass, or in any 
other manner discriminate against an employee in the terms and conditions of 
employment because of any lawful act done by the employee: 

(1) to provide information, cause information to be provided, or otherwise assist 
in an investigation regarding any conduct which the employee reasonably 
believes constitutes a violation of section 1341, 1343, 1344, or 1348, any rule or 
regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any provision of 
Federal law relating to fraud against shareholders, when the information or 
assistance is provided to or the investigation is conducted by (A) a Federal 
regulatory or law enforcement agency; (B) any Member of Congress or any 
committee of Congress; or (C) a person with supervisory authority over the 
employee (or such other person working for the employer who has the authority 
to investigate, discover, or terminate misconduct); or   

(2) to file, cause to be filed, testify, participate in, or otherwise assist in a 
proceeding filed or about to be filed (with any knowledge of the employer) relating 
to an alleged violation of section 1341, 1343, 1344, or 1348, any rule or 
regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any provision of 
Federal law relating to fraud against shareholders. 

 This is not the situation in this case.  Additionally, the only means of enforcement of this 
section is through the Secretary of Labor, not an individual suit.  The statute continues: 
  
  (b) Enforcement Action. 
 

(1) In general.—A person who alleges discharge or other discrimination by any 
person in violation of subsection (a) may seek relief under subsection (c), by:  

(A) filing a complaint with the Secretary of Labor; or 

(B) if the Secretary has not issued a final decision within 180 days of the filing of 
the complaint and there is no showing that such delay is due to the bad faith of 
the claimant, bringing an action at law or equity for de novo review in the 
appropriate district court of the United States, which shall have jurisdiction over 
such an action without regard to the amount in controversy. 

  
 As to the alleged ethical standards for members of the Diversity Task Force, there is no 
citation to these “rules.”  It is doubtful that internal rules of conduct would satisfy the 
independently wrongful standard of pleading a violation of a constitutional, statutory, regulatory, 
common law, or other determinable legal standard.  More importantly, the “incompatible 
activities” alleged by Peinado, as an alleged representative of CSAA, are conclusions only.   
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NEGLIGENT AND INTENTIONAL INTERFERENCE WITH PROSPECTIVE ECONOMIC 
RELATIONS  (SECOND AND THIRD CAUSES OF ACTION) 

 To plead an actionable interference with prospective economic advantage claim, a 
plaintiff must establish:  (1) an existing economic relationship between the plaintiff and some 
third party with the probability of future economic benefit to the plaintiffs; (2) the defendant’s 
knowledge of the plaintiff’s economic relationship; (3) acts on the part of the defendant designed 
to disrupt the relationship, where such acts are wrongful by some legal measure other than the 
fact of the interference itself; (4) actual disruption of the relationship; and (5) economic harm to 
the plaintiff proximately caused by the acts of the defendant.  See Korea Supply Co., supra, 29 
Cal.4th at 1164-1165; CACI 2204; CACI 2202. 

 The analysis above applies to these two causes of action as well.  None of the elements 
of these claims are alleged in anything but vague and conclusory terms, and there is no 
predicate “wrongful act” alleged different from the interference itself.  See Korea Supply Co., 
supra, 29 Cal.4th at 1159; Della Penna v. Toyota Sales, USA (1995) 11 Cal.4th 376, 393; 
LiMandri v. Judkins (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 326, 342.  

 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02257 
CASE NAME: TRINIDAD VS. MACK 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE PORTIONS OF COMPLAINT 
FILED BY LAMONTE DESEAN MACK 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant moves to strike portions of Plaintiffs’ original Complaint, filed on November 5, 2018, 

pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure (“CCP”) § 435 and § 436. Defendant moves to strike 

Plaintiffs’ claim for exemplary damages, and the entire exemplary damages attachment.  

For the following reasons, the motion is granted with leave to amend. Plaintiffs shall file any 

amended complaint on or before August 2, 2019. 

Background 

This is a personal injury action arising from a motor vehicle accident. Plaintiffs allege that 

Defendant’s vehicle collided with Plaintiffs’ vehicle, and that Defendant then “fled the scene of 

the incident.”  (Complaint, ¶ 5.) 

Analysis 

The right to claim punitive damages is governed by Civil Code section 3924.  A plaintiff must 

adequately allege facts showing “malice,” “oppression,” or “fraud,” as those terms are defined by 

statute.  (Id., subd. (c).) The oppression and fraud grounds do not appear relevant to this 

personal injury action, so the Court will focus on malice. 

Conclusory allegations are not sufficient to support a claim for punitive damages.  (Smith v. 

Superior Court (1992) 10 Cal.App.4th 1033, 1042.)  It is not enough to allege merely that a 
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defendant acted willfully, maliciously, or with ill will towards a plaintiff.  (Id., at 1041. See also, 

Anschutz Entertainment Group, Inc. v. Snepp (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 598, 643.)  

In order to establish malice, a plaintiff must allege facts indicating either that the defendant 

acted with an intent to injure, or that the defendant engaged in “despicable” conduct carried on 

with a willful and conscious disregard for the rights or safety of others. (Civ. Code, § 3294, subd. 

(c)(1).) That the conduct be despicable is an additional requirement beyond merely establishing 

that the conduct was carried on with a willful and conscious disregard.  (College Hospital Inc. v. 

Superior Court (1994) 8 Cal.4th 704, 725.)  To be despicable, conduct must be base, vile, or 

contemptible.  (Id.) 

In the instant case, Plaintiffs allege in conclusory terms that Defendant acted maliciously.  

(See, Complaint, Exemplary Damages Attachment.)  As noted above, such conclusory 

allegations are not sufficient.  

With regard to the accident itself, although Defendant was obviously aware that he had collided 

with Plaintiffs, Plaintiffs do not allege that Defendant intended to injure them.  Nor do Plaintiffs 

allege that the collision was the product of conduct carried on with a conscious disregard of their 

safety, much less that it rose to the level of being “despicable.”  The general rule in California is 

that unintentional collisions do not give rise to a claim for punitive damages, because even 

reckless conduct is not despicable conduct per se.  (See, Lackner v. North (2006) 135 

Cal.App.4th 1188, 1212-13.) 

With regard to fleeing the scene of the accident, Plaintiffs do not allege that Defendant knew 

they were seriously injured and would need Defendant to stay at the scene to assist them or to 

call for medical aid.  Knowingly fleeing the scene of an accident is certainly unethical, and, as 

discussed below, illegal.  But it does not show malice towards Plaintiffs or a willfulness to injure. 

(See Escobedo v. Travelers Ins. Co. (1964) 227 Cal.App.2d 353, 360.) 

Finally, Plaintiffs allege that Defendant violated sections of the Vehicle Code. Sections 

20002 and 20003 impose certain duties on drivers who have gotten into an accident that 

causes personal injury or property damage.  If Plaintiffs’ allegation that Defendant fled the scene 

is true, then Defendant almost certainly did violate those statutes. Plaintiffs cite no case law 

supporting the proposition that such statutory violations, standing alone, support a claim for 

punitive damages. 
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 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00177 
CASE NAME: GREENE  VS.  FAY SERVICING 
SPECIALLY SET HEARING ON OSC RE PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 
SET BY JOHN BATIESTE GREEN JR. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 The hearing on the OSC re preliminary injunction is continued to July 24, 2019, 
at 9:00 a.m., in Department 21.  The OSC will be heard with plaintiff’s companion motion for 
attorney fees, already calendared for that date and time.  The temporary restraining order shall 
remain in effect through July 24. 
 
 The Court requests supplemental papers from plaintiff addressing the following matters.  
These papers shall be filed on or before July 10, 2019.  Defendants may file supplemental 
responsive papers on or before July 17, 2019. 
 
 1. The Denial Of Plaintiff’s Application. 
 
 On January 7, 2019, defendant Fay issued a written denial of plaintiff’s application for a 
loan modification.  (Paterno Dec., Exh. 2.)  Plaintiff alleges that he did not receive this written 
denial directly.  (Greene Dec., ¶ 34.)  However, plaintiff’s attorney admits that he was notified of 
the denial more than three months ago, on March 27, 2019, and he presumably was provided 
with a copy of the denial as part of the opposition papers that defendants filed in federal District 
Court.  (Nefcy Dec., ¶ 23.) 
 
 The Court requests detailed information from plaintiff concerning whether, after learning 
of the denial, he has made any attempt to appeal the denial.  If so, what were the grounds for 
the appeal, and what was the outcome?  If not, why not, and what would the grounds be for an 
appeal be if plaintiff were given the opportunity to appeal?  The Court notes that servicers are 
required to consider an application for a loan modification, but there is nothing requiring them 
to grant such an application. 
 
 2. Relief From Stay In The 2017 Bankruptcy. 
 
 The Court does not understand plaintiff’s argument with regard to the failure of his 2017 
Chapter 13 bankruptcy.  (Greene Dec., ¶ 28 and ¶ 29.)  Did plaintiff oppose the request of the 
former beneficiary for relief from the automatic stay?  And if plaintiff was not in default under 
the terms of the Chapter 13 plan, why did the bankruptcy judge grant the request? 
 
 3. The 2019 Bankruptcy. 
 
 Plaintiff alleges that, as of May 17, 2019, he was “current and up to date” on the 
payments due in his 2019 Chapter 13 bankruptcy.  (Greene Dec., ¶ 27.)  However, in plaintiff’s 
reply memorandum, plaintiff appears to concede that he is no longer able to make his 2019 
Chapter 13 payments.  (Reply, filed on 6-6-19, p. 7, lines 6-7 [“Plaintiff was able to make his 
2019 Bankruptcy payments of $2,050.00 before they increased to over $4,800.00”].)  The Court 
requests an update concerning whether plaintiff is still current. 
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 Plaintiff also alleges that, as of May 17, 2019, he was “awaiting confirmation of 
a Chapter 13 plan.”  (Greene Dec., ¶ 23.)  The Court requests an update concerning whether a 
Chapter 13 plan has now been confirmed. 
 
 4. Conditions On Injunctive Relief. 
 
 A preliminary injunction is an equitable remedy, and “one who seeks equity must do 
equity.”  (Davenport v. Blue Cross of California (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 435, 454-455.)  Yet while 
plaintiff objects to the amount of the undertaking requested by defendants, plaintiff does not 
state what amount he would be willing to post, or what conditions he would be willing to satisfy 
in lieu of an undertaking. 
 
 This is important, because under California law, the Court must require an undertaking 
as a condition to the issuance of a preliminary injunction.  (Code Civ. Proc., § 529.)  An 
undertaking is generally required even if the defendant does not request it.  (ABBA Rubber Co. 
v. Seaquist (1991) 235 Cal.App.3d 1, 10.)  And a preliminary injunction does not become 
operative until it is furnished.   (Code Civ. Proc., § 529.  See, Casitas Inv. Co. v. Charles L. 
Harney, Inc. (1962) 203 Cal.App.2d 811, 816.  See also, Oksner v. Superior Court (1964) 
229 Cal.App.2d 672, 687 [a preliminary injunction that does not provide for an undertaking 
is a “nullity”].) 
 
 Plaintiff contends that the amount of any undertaking should be modest, because 
defendant U.S. Bank would recover the full amount of the mortgage loan in any foreclosure and 
therefore is fully protected.  But the Court has no way of knowing this, without knowing how 
much equity there is in the subject residence over and above the amount of the mortgage loan. 
 
 5. The Term of The Injunction. 
 
 Plaintiff seeks an injunction “for the duration of the litigation …”  But this does not make 
sense.  It would appear to the Court that, at best, plaintiff would be entitled to an injunction of 
sufficient length to allow plaintiff to appeal the denial of his application for a loan modification 
(if he has not done so already). 
 
 6. Communications With Defendants’ Counsel. 
 
 On three occasions plaintiff has rushed into court with urgent ex parte applications, 
seeking temporary restraining orders.  This Court has granted two, and the District Court 
denied one. 
 
 However, plaintiff’s papers are devoid of evidence showing that, prior to these ex parte 
applications, plaintiff made good faith efforts to communicate with defendants or their counsel 
concerning the status of plaintiff’s application for a loan modification.  Plaintiff has been 
represented by counsel since at least January 24, 2019, when this action was commenced, 
and has known of the January 7, 2019 denial letter since at least March 27, 2019, when 
defendant Fay filed its opposition papers in federal District Court. 
 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   21 
HEARING DATE:   07/03/19 

 
 

- 16 - 

 What has plaintiff been doing since March 27, knowing that his application for a loan 
modification was denied and that defendants were therefore authorized to proceed with 
foreclosure?  He cannot seriously be contending that, because he inexplicably did not receive 
the January 7 denial letter in the mail, defendants can never foreclose.  (The Court notes that 
plaintiff’s mail was working fine 10 days earlier, because plaintiff did receive the December 28, 
2018 acknowledgment letter that he regards as favorable to his case.)  It would appear to the 
Court that it is plaintiff, not defendant Fay, who is “sticking [his] head in the sand like an 
ostrich …”  (Reply, filed on 6-6-19, p. 9, lines 10-11.) 
 
 This lack of evidence showing a good faith effort to communicate with defendants after 
plaintiff retained counsel creates the impression that it may be plaintiff, and not any of the 
defendants, who is engaged in procedural gamesmanship.  If plaintiff wishes to dispel that 
impression, the supplemental papers to be filed by July 10 are his opportunity to do so. 

 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00177 
CASE NAME: GREENE VS.  FAY 
HEARING ON JOINDER IN DEMURRER TO PLAINTIFFS COMPLAINT 
FILED BY AFFINIA DEFAULT SERVICES LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Defendant Affinia’s joinder in the demurrer brought by defendants Fay and U.S. Bank is 
allowed.  The general and special demurrers are sustained with leave to amend as to this 
defendant also.  (Code Civ. Proc., § 430.10, subds. (e) and (f).)  The Court makes the following 
further observations concerning the status of this defendant. 
 
 Defendant Affinia is sued in its capacity as a foreclosure trustee.  (Complaint, ¶ 6.)  
Predictably, defendant filed a declaration of non-monetary status on February 6, 2019.  
(See, Civ. Code, § 2924l.) 
 
 A week later, on February 13, 2019, plaintiff filed an objection to the declaration of non-
monetary status.  However, the language of this objection appears to reflect a fundamental 
misunderstanding of the Civil Code section 2924l procedure. 
 
 Plaintiff objects to the declaration on the following grounds: 
 

Plaintiff believes, and hereon alleges, that AFFINIA, in their role as a trustee, 
did not have timely and accurate information from Defendant FAY SERVICING 
when threatening foreclosure. 
 
[ … ] 
 
In the case at hand, AFFINIA is a necessary party to this action given its status 
as the foreclosure trustee seeking to foreclose on Plaintiff’s property following 
Plaintiff’s prior servicer’s misconduct while servicing Plaintiff’s mortgage loan.  
Notably, the Declaration of Nonmonetary Status does not refute these allegations 
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but merely states, on information and belief, that the allegations relate solely to 
Defendant’s actions as foreclosure trustee.  Plaintiff does not dispute that 
AFFINIA is the acting foreclosure trustee.  However, given that Plaintiff seeks 
injunctive relief regarding the foreclosure sale of their home, AFFINIA is a party 
whose presence is necessary since complete relief could not be accorded in its 
absence.  [Emphasis added.] 

 
(Objection, p. 5.)  Thus, plaintiff concedes that defendant Affinia is an innocent party 
— it allegedly received incorrect information from the loan servicer — and that its presence is 
necessary only because plaintiff seeks injunctive relief against it. 
 
 Yet this is precisely the situation that section 2924l contemplates.  When a declaration of 
non-monetary status is not timely objected to, the foreclosure trustee remains a party in the 
case, and remains subject to any non-monetary relief (such as injunctive or declaratory relief) 
that the trial court may award.  The statute provides in pertinent part as follows: 
 

In the event that no objection is served within the 15-day objection period, 
the trustee shall not be required to participate any further in the action or 
proceeding, shall not be subject to any monetary awards as and for damages, 
attorneys’ fees or costs, shall be required to respond to any discovery requests 
as a nonparty, and shall be bound by any court order relating to the subject deed 
of trust that is the subject of the action or proceeding.  [Emphasis added.] 
 

(Civ. Code, § 2924l, subd. (d).) Accordingly, before filing any amended complaint, plaintiff’s 
counsel shall meet and confer with defendant’s counsel concerning the possibility of plaintiff 
withdrawing plaintiff’s objection to the declaration of non-monetary status. 

 

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00177 
CASE NAME: GREENE  VS.  FAY SERVICING 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 
FILED BY FAY SERVICING, LLC, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 The general and special demurrers brought by defendants Fay and U.S. Bank are 
sustained with leave to amend.  (Code Civ. Proc., § 430.10, subds. (e) and (f).) 
 
 Plaintiff shall file any further amended complaint on or before August 2, 2019, subject to 
the conditions on leave to amend set forth below.  The basis for this ruling is as follows. 
 
 A. The First Cause of Action. 
 
 The First Cause of Action is for violation of the Homeowner Bill of Rights (“HBOR”).  
There are several problems with this cause of action. 
 
  1) The Special Demurrer. 
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 The First Cause of Action is “uncertain,” because the date of the act constituting the 
alleged HBOR violation is not alleged.  (Code Civ. Proc., § 430.10, subd. (f).) This is important, 
because the HBOR statutes in effect in 2018 differed substantially from those now in effect. 
 
 The Court notes that the notice of trustee’s sale set the original sale date for October 22, 
2018.  (Defendants’ RJN, Exh. 5.)  It is not clear when the sale date was continued to 
February 11, 2019, the date that plaintiff alleged was the “currently scheduled” date and that 
plaintiff found objectionable.  (Complaint, ¶ 37.)  If the sale date was continued in 2018, 
the version of Civil Code section 2924.11 then in effect was the ‘dual tracking’ statute that 
plaintiff is invoking.  If the sale date was continued in 2019, section 2923.6 is the applicable 
dual tracking statute. 
 
 The First Cause of Action is also uncertain, because the description of the alleged 
violation is ambiguous: “[Fay] directed Defendant AFFINIA to actively foreclose on the property, 
in clear violation of Cal. Civ. Code § 2924.11(a).”  (Complaint, ¶ 38.)  If plaintiff is referring to the 
recordation of the notice of trustee’s sale, that was not a dual tracking violation; the notice was 
recorded on September 20, 2018, and plaintiff alleges that he did not submit his application until 
late 2018.  (Complaint, ¶ 15.) 
 
 Finally, the First Cause of Action is also uncertain for a third reason.  Plaintiff seeks only 
compensatory and punitive damages in this cause of action, and not injunctive relief, even 
though no foreclosure sale has taken place.  (Complaint, ¶¶ 39-40.)  Before a foreclosure sale 
has taken place, the borrower is limited to injunctive relief.  (Civ. Code, § 2924.12, subd. (a)(1).) 
Under HBOR’s ‘safe harbor’ provision, defendants would not be subject to monetary damages 
for any HBOR violation that they remedy before a trustee’s deed is recorded.  (Id., subd. (c).) 
   
  2) The General Demurrer. 
 
 The First Cause of Action fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, 
for three reasons.  (Code Civ. Proc., § 430.10, subd. (e).) 
 
 First, plaintiff has not alleged an act constituting an HBOR violation.  Plaintiff’s theory is 
that continuing a trustee’s sale from date to date is somehow a dual tracking violation.  
However, the current dual tracking statute does not so provide.  The statute prohibits only three 
acts while a complete application for a loan modification is pending: 
 

[A] mortgage servicer … shall not  [1]  record a notice of default or  [2]  [record a] 
notice of sale, or  [3]  conduct a trustee’s sale, while the complete first lien loan 
modification application is pending.  [Bracketed numbers added.] 

 
(Civ. Code, § 2923.6, subd. (c).) The statute does not identify as a violation the act of merely 
continuing a trustee’s sale in order to accommodate an application for a loan modification that is 
submitted after the notice of trustee’s sale is recorded. 
 
 Plaintiff does not appear to appreciate the implications of his HBOR legal theory.  One of 
the damage items that plaintiff seeks is “foreclosure fees.”  (Complaint, ¶ 39.)  Yet if defendants 
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had dropped the trustee’s sale from calendar, rather than continuing it, plaintiff would be facing 
the prospect of yet more foreclosure fees.  If any appeal from the denial of the application is also 
denied, then a new notice of trustee’s sale would have to be recorded — resulting in additional 
fees.  Thus, continuing the trustee’s sale date, rather than rescinding the notice of sale, favors 
plaintiff’s financial interest. 
 
 The second ground for sustaining defendants’ general demurrer is that the Complaint 
contains no allegations in support of the proposition that the alleged HBOR violation was 
“material.”  (Civ. Code, § 2924.12, subd. (a)(1).) In fact, the Complaint does not even use the 
legal conclusion “material” within the body of the cause of action.  (See, ¶ 33 [“a violation”]; 
¶ 38 [“in clear violation”].) 
 
 Thus, plaintiff has failed to allege any facts indicating that his current financial situation 
is such that he could realistically have expected to qualify for a loan modification, and that his 
late-2018 application, made five years after the notice of default was recorded and following on 
the heels of an unsuccessful Chapter 13 bankruptcy, was anything more than a delay tactic.  
If plaintiff could not realistically expect to qualify for a loan modification, the Court does not see 
how any technical HBOR violation could fairly be characterized as “material.” 
 
 Further, if plaintiff is relying on Civil Code section 2923.6, rather than section 2924.11, 
he faces an additional hurdle.  In the reply memorandum filed in support of his request for a 
preliminary injunction, plaintiff acknowledges that the predecessor-in-interest of defendant 
U.S. Bank entered into a loan modification agreement with plaintiff in 2011.  (Reply, filed on 
6-6-19, p. 7, lines 3-5 [referencing “a 2011 loan modification agreement”].)  Therefore, if 
section 2923.6 applies, plaintiff must demonstrate that his late-2018 application for a new loan 
modification documented a material improvement in his financial circumstances.  (Civ. Code, 
§ 2923.6, subd. (g).) Yet plaintiff’s bankruptcy filings indicate that his financial circumstances 
have in fact deteriorated.  (Defendants’ RJN, Exh. 9 [Declaration of Debtor filed on 9-28-18 
reciting that “my income has reduced” and “it is unknown when I will return to work”].) 
 
 Plaintiff’s argument on this point lacks merit.  Plaintiff argues that he has the ability 
to make the regular monthly payments currently due under his mortgage.  But this is a non 
sequitur; if plaintiff’s application for a loan modification had been approved, he would have been 
required to pay off the accumulated arrearages.  Further, plaintiff does not allege that he could 
now obtain the same interest rate, mortgage loan payout term, etc.  Finally, plaintiff cannot rely 
on facts extraneous to his Complaint in opposition to defendants’ demurrer, and as noted above, 
the Complaint has no allegations concerning plaintiff’s current financial situation. 
 
 B. The Second Cause of Action. 
 
 The Second Cause of Action is for violation of the Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection 
Practices Act.  There are several problems with this cause of action. 
 
  1) The Special Demurrer. 
 
 The Second Cause of Action is “uncertain,” because it is ambiguous concerning whether 
plaintiff is relying solely on the earlier-alleged HBOR violation as also constituting the alleged 
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Rosenthal Act violation, or whether there is some additional conduct in play that is the subject of 
this cause of action but is not the subject of the First Cause of Action.  (Code Civ. Proc., 
§ 430.10, subd. (f).)  Using a remediable HBOR violation as the predicate for a Rosenthal Act 
cause of action would appear to be problematic; it would fly in the face of HBOR’s ‘safe harbor’ 
provision, which allows a servicer to avoid monetary liability by correcting an HBOR violation 
before a trustee’s deed has been recorded.  (Civ. Code, § 2924.12, subd. (c).) 
 
 This cause of action is also uncertain because plaintiff describes at least one Rosenthal 
Act violation as follows: “[d]efendants’ use of a Notice of Trustee Sale on Plaintiff’s home, 
despite the prohibition against dual tracking …” (Complaint, ¶ 52.)  As was noted above, the 
notice of trustee’s sale was recorded before plaintiff submitted his application for a loan 
modification.  Accordingly, the Court is puzzled by this implied allegation that recording the 
notice of trustee’s sale — an act expressly authorized by the nonjudicial foreclosure statutes — 
somehow constituted a Rosenthal Act violation. 
 
 Finally, this cause of action is uncertain because plaintiff incorporates by reference the 
entirety of the First Cause of Action, and that cause of action is itself uncertain for the reasons 
stated above. 
 
  2) The General Demurrer. 
 
 The Second Cause of Action fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.  
(Code Civ. Proc., § 430.10, subd. (e).) There are two reasons why this is so. 
 
 First, with the exception of the confusing reference to the recordation of the notice of 
trustee’s sale, discussed above, plaintiff’s allegations consist entirely of boilerplate — pure legal 
conclusions devoid of ultimate facts.  (Complaint, ¶¶ 47-52.)  This is not acceptable. 
 
 A complaint “is sufficient if it alleges ultimate rather than evidentiary facts.”  (Doe v. City 
of Los Angeles (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 550.)  However, the plaintiff must set forth the essential 
ultimate facts of his or her case “with reasonable precision and with particularity sufficient to 
acquaint [the] defendant with the nature, source and extent” of the plaintiff’s claim.  (Doheny 
Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1076, 
1099.)  Legal conclusions are insufficient.  (Id. at 1098–99; Doe, supra, at 551, fn. 5.  The Court 
“assume[s] the truth of the allegations in the complaint, but do[es] not assume the truth of 
contentions, deductions, or conclusions of law.”  (California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California 
(2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 242, 247.) 
 
 The Second Cause of Action also fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of 
action because, while plaintiff alleges that defendant Fay is a debt collector, plaintiff does not 
identify what specific acts constitute the “debt collection” that is the subject of the cause of 
action.  This is an essential element of a Rosenthal Act cause of action. 
 
 The Court defers for future consideration whether conduct directly related to the 
nonjudicial foreclosure process can ever constitute “debt collection” for purposes of the 
Rosenthal Act.  In any future demurrer, the parties should be prepared to address in greater 
depth whether the Davidson and Randall decisions on which plaintiff relies are reconcilable with 
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the Fonteno and Pfeifer decisions on which defendants rely.  (See, Randall v. Ditech Financial, 
LLC (2018) 23 Cal.App.5th 804; Davidson v. Seterus, Inc. (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 283; Fonteno 
v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 1358; Pfeifer v. Countrywide Home Loans, 
Inc. (2012) 211 Cal.App.4th 1250.) 
 
 C. The Third Cause of Action. 
 
 The Third Cause of Action is for violation of the Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”).  
There are several problems with this cause of action. 
 
  1) The Special Demurrer. 
 
 The Third Cause of Action is “uncertain,” because it is ambiguous concerning whether 
plaintiff is relying solely on the earlier-alleged HBOR violation as also constituting the alleged 
UCL violation, or whether there is some additional conduct in play that is the subject of this 
cause of action but is not the subject of the First Cause of Action.  (Code Civ. Proc., § 430.10, 
subd. (f).) This is important, because if plaintiff is relying solely on the alleged HBOR violation, 
and plaintiff is ultimately unable to allege an HBOR cause of action, this cause of action must 
fall as well. 
 
 This cause of action is also uncertain because plaintiff bases it in part on unidentified 
“intentional misrepresentations” and “negligent misrepresentations.”  (Complaint, ¶¶ 59-60.)  
There are no earlier causes of action for fraud or negligent misrepresentation, and in any 
event, simply setting a trustee’s sale date would not appear to constitute either fraud or 
negligent misrepresentation. 
 
 This cause of action is also uncertain because paragraph 61 is unintelligible.  Plaintiff 
here refers to the “recordation of the Notice of Trustee Sale while Plaintiff was in loan 
modification review,” even though that concededly didn’t happen.  The Court also does not 
understand paragraph 61’s nebulous reference to “[d]efendant’s refusal to deal in good faith with 
Plaintiff regarding the status of the scheduled trustee sale and the status of her loan 
modification …”  The use of the wrong possessive (“her”) suggests that these allegations may 
constitute reflexively recycled allegations from an earlier lawsuit involving other parties.  
 
 This cause of action is also uncertain because plaintiff inexplicably seeks compensatory 
damages, punitive damages, the disgorgement of profits, and attorney fees.  (Complaint, ¶¶ 62-
66.)  These are all remedies that are not available in a UCL cause of action.  (See, Bus. & Prof. 
Code, § 17203 and § 17204; Zhang v. Superior Court (2013) 57 Cal.4th 364, 376 [no claim for 
compensatory or punitive damages can be recovered in a UCL action]; Korea Supply Co. v. 
Lockheed Martin Corp. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1150-51 [“[t]he nonrestitutionary disgorgement 
remedy sought by plaintiff closely resembles a claim for damages, something that is not 
permitted under the UCL”]; Cel Tech Communications, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Telephone 
Co. (1999) 20 Cal.4th 163, 179 [attorney fees are not authorized in a UCL cause of action].)  
Plaintiff’s counsel has clearly not familiarized himself with the highly limited remedies actually 
available under the UCL. 
 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   21 
HEARING DATE:   07/03/19 

 
 

- 22 - 

 This cause of action is also uncertain because plaintiff seeks “restitution,” but does 
not earlier allege that any particular sum of money was paid to defendants that might plausibly 
support an award of restitution. 
 
 Finally, this cause of action is uncertain because plaintiff incorporates by reference the 
entirety of the earlier two causes of action, and those causes of action are themselves uncertain 
for the reasons stated above. 
 
  2) The General Demurrer. 
 
 The Second Cause of Action fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.  
(Code Civ. Proc., § 430.10, subd. (e).) There are four reasons why this is so. 
 
 First, insofar as plaintiff is relying on alleged statutory violations, this cause of action fails 
for the same reasons that the earlier two causes of action fail.  (See, Aleksick v. 7-Eleven, Inc. 
(2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 1176, 1185 [“”[w]hen a statutory claim fails, a derivative UCL claim also 
fails”].)  Second, plaintiff’s allegations are impermissibly conclusory.  (See citations on this point 
in Part B-2 above.)  Third, plaintiff has failed to adequately allege causation.  (See, Graham v. 
Bank of America, N.A. (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 594, 614 [the “prospect of losing the home to 
foreclosure is the result of default, not the alleged conduct of defendants”].)  Finally, for the 
reasons stated in Part C-1 above, plaintiff has failed to intelligibly allege the right to an 
authorized UCL remedy. 
 
 D. Conditions On Leave To Amend. 
 
  1) Limitation on Scope. 
 
 Plaintiff shall not add any new defendants or any new causes of action, without leave of 
court after a noticed motion.  (See, Harris v. Wachovia Mortgage, FSB (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 
1018, 1022-23.)  Leave to amend is granted only as to the three causes of action, and the three 
defendants, identified in the Complaint. 
  
  2) Incorporation By Reference. 
 
 Plaintiff shall set out the ultimate facts necessary to support each cause of action, and 
only those ultimate facts, within the body of the cause of action.  Key ultimate facts shall not be 
incorporated by reference, and extraneous ultimate facts shall be omitted.  All facts shall be 
alleged “in ordinary and concise language.”  (Code Civ. Proc., § 425.10, subd. (a)(1).) 
 
  3) Chronology. 
 
 Plaintiff shall allege, within the body of each cause of action, an intelligible chronology 
pertinent to that cause of action.  This chronology shall identify the year, the month, and if 
possible the date of each wrongful act allegedly committed by defendant, and the date of any 
other pertinent events.  If a given wrongful act is evidenced by a writing, plaintiff shall attach a 
full and legible copy of the writing to the further amended complaint as a properly tabbed exhibit, 
and shall highlight the pertinent language within that writing for the Court’s convenience.  (See, 
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Cal. Rules of Court, rule 3.1110, subd. (f).) If a given wrongful act was committed by a specific 
employee, the name and title of that employee shall be alleged. 
 
  4) Damages or Restitution. 
 
 In any further amended complaint, plaintiff shall allege the estimated dollar amount of 
any compensatory damages or restitution that plaintiff seeks, other than damages for personal 
injury, and how that dollar amount was calculated.  (See, Code Civ. Proc., § 425.10, subd. (a)(2) 
[“[i]f the recovery of money or damages is demanded, the amount demanded shall be stated”].) 
 
  5) The Sham Pleading Rule. 
 
 Plaintiff shall bear in mind, and shall not violate, the sham pleading rule.  (See generally, 
Larson v. UHS of Rancho Springs, Inc. (2014) 230 Cal.App.4th 336, 343-345.) 
  
  6) Attorney Declaration. 
 
 Plaintiff shall file and serve, along with any amended complaint, a separate declaration 
signed by plaintiff’s counsel.  Attached to this declaration shall be a ‘redlined’ copy of the 
amended complaint.  This redlined copy shall show all amendments to the Complaint in the 
following manner: deleted language shall be shown in ‘strike-through’ text, and added language 
shall be shown in shaded, bold, or underlined text.  Plaintiff’s counsel shall be prepared to 
explain, in plaintiff’s opposition to any renewed demurrer, how the highlighted amendments cure 
the pleading defects identified in this ruling.  If plaintiff fails to timely file and serve this 
declaration, defendants may apply to the Court for an ex parte order striking the amended 
complaint and entering judgment in defendants’ favor.  In that event, defendants shall provide 
the Court with a proposed judgment separate from any corresponding order. 
 
 E. Other Matters. 
 
 Defendants’ request for judicial notice is granted.  Recorded documents and bankruptcy 
court filings are subject to judicial notice, and the Court found several of the exhibits helpful. 
 
 Plaintiff’s counsel Duncan McGee Nefcy is admonished for the harsh and abusive tone 
of the papers he has filed in opposition to the demurrer, and in support of the pending request 
for a preliminary injunction.  There is simply no call for referring to the opposing party or their 
counsel as “dastardly” or “insane,” and for making unfounded attacks on their personal integrity.  
The Court appreciates that defendants’ counsel did not rise to the bait; they instead kept their 
papers civil and cogent. 
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11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00347 
CASE NAME: RILEY VS. NEMIROFSKY 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 
FILED BY FRANK NEMIROFSKY, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Before the Court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) filed by Defendants Frank Nemirofsky 

(“Nemirofsky”), ExpHand, Inc. (“ExpHand”) and Does 1-100 (collectively “Defendants”). 

The demurrer relates to the Complaint filed by Plaintiff Kaylan Riley (“Plaintiff” or “Riley”). 

The Complaint alleges causes of action for (1) breach of contract; (2) promissory estoppel; 

(3) fraud and concealment; (4) negligent misrepresentation; (5) common counts: money lent and 

money had and received; (6) conversion; (7) financial elder abuse; and (8) unlawful and unfair 

business practices (Bus. & Prof. C. § 17200). Defendants demur to all but the first and the fifth 

causes of action. 

For the following reasons, the Demurrer is overruled as to the Second, Sixth, Seventh and 

Eighth Causes of Action, and the Demurrer is sustained as to the Third and Fourth Causes of 

Action, with leave to amend.  

Brief Factual Background 

From 2003 to 2008, Plaintiff provided a total of $1,309,000 to her friend, Nemirofsky, and his 

company, ExpHand. (Compl. at ¶¶ 20-38.) According to Plaintiff, Nemirofsky convinced her to 

invest in his company by showing her purported inventions and patents that would make up the 

business model, telling her large companies were interested in doing business with ExpHand, 

assuring her that profits would allow for a quick return of her investments, and also by 

leveraging their friendship. (Id. at ¶¶ 17-18, 40, 146.) 

In 2009, Plaintiff began requesting her money back and hired an attorney in 2010 to help her 

make demands. (Compl. at ¶¶ 41-42.) However, Nemirofsky was able to convince Plaintiff that 

ExpHand would soon be profitable and would be able to pay back the debt. (Id.) Seeing no 

repayment still in 2014, Plaintiff hired another attorney to demand repayment. (Id. at ¶ 43.) 

Again, Defendants assured Plaintiff of their intention to pay her back, so the parties, instead, 

entered into an agreement tolling the statute of limitations for any debt related claims Plaintiff 

might have had against Defendants. (Id. at ¶¶ 44-45.) In response to a lack of progress in 2015, 

Plaintiff threatened litigation but ultimately backed off when ExpHand advised her that it would 

not be able to repay the debt if a lawsuit were filed. (Id. at ¶¶ 47-48.) Instead, the parties entered 

into a repayment agreement. (Id. at ¶ 49.) Defendants executed the $50,000 interim payment to 

Plaintiff pursuant to the repayment agreement but defaulted on the final payment. (Id. at ¶ 50.) 

Upon Defendants’ default, Plaintiff reluctantly agreed to yet another repayment agreement after 

ExpHand reiterated that if a lawsuit were filed it would not be able to repay her. (Id. at ¶¶ 51-54.) 

ExpHand made its $100,000 forbearance payment set forth in the repayment agreement in 

August 2016 but defaulted on its January 2017 payment. (Id. at ¶¶ 55-56.)  
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The Complaint alleges that ExpHand does not conduct any actual business, and is instead a 

mere shell company for the benefit of Nemirofsky and/or Does 1-25. (Compl. at. ¶ 13). Plaintiff 

alleges that although she wrote checks, in the amount of $509,000, to Nemirofsky personally 

(upon Nemirofsky’s request) for the purpose of investing in ExpHand, Nemirofsky has used 

those finds for his own benefit. (Id. at ¶¶ 59, 128.)  

Analysis 

Timeliness of Defendants’ Demurrer  

Plaintiff argues that because the Demurrer was untimely it should be overruled. However, a 

court may disregard pleading errors where the parties’ substantial rights are not affected. 

(See Jackson v. Doe (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 742, 750.) It is apparent that Plaintiff’s “substantial 

rights” were not affected here as she did not take steps to obtain a default judgment, but 

instead, filed a timely Opposition. The Court declines to overrule the demurrer on this ground.  

Promissory Estoppel (Second Cause of Action) 

Defendants demur to Plaintiff’s Second Cause of Action, promissory estoppel, on the basis that 

it is inconsistent with the breach of contract cause of action. However, it is well-established that 

causes of action can be pled in the alternative during the early pleading stages. (See Fleet v. 

Bank of Am. N.A. (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 1403 (“when a pleader is in doubt about what actually 

occurred or what can be established by the evidence, the modern practice allows that party to 

plead in the alternative and make inconsistent allegations.”).) Because Defendants have not 

stipulated to the formation and enforceability of the alleged contracts and have not filed an 

answer indicating their position on the enforceability of such contracts, Plaintiff may proceed 

with both breach of contract and promissory estoppel claims.  

The Demurrer to the Second Cause of Action is overruled. 

Fraud and Negligent Misrepresentation (Third and Fourth Causes of Action) 

The elements for fraud are, “representation, falsity, knowledge of falsity, intent to deceive, and 

reliance and resulting damage” (Hamilton v. Greenwich Inv’rs XXVI, LLC (2011) 195 

Cal.App.4th 1602, 1614.) Similarly, the elements of negligent misrepresentation are 

misrepresentation, knowledge of falsity, intent to induce reliance, justifiable reliance, and 

resulting damage. (Moncada v. W. Coast Quartz Corp. (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 768, 781.)  

California law imposes heightened pleading standards on these deceit claims, which require 

every element to be alleged with heightened specificity. (Cansino v. Bank of Am. (2014) 224 

Cal.App.4th 1462, 1469; Cadlo v. Owens-Illisnois, Inc. (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 513, 519.) “The 

particularity requirement demands that a plaintiff plead facts which ‘show how, when, where, to 

whom, and by what means the representations were tendered.’” (Cansino v. Bank of Am. (2014) 

224 Cal.App.4th 1462, 1469.) General and “conclusory allegations do not suffice.” (Hamilton v. 

Greenwich Inv’rs XXVI, LLC (2011) 195 Cal.App.4th 1602, 1614.)  
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While the Complaint alleges falsity numerous times, it does not do so with the requisite 

specificity. Plaintiff asserts that she relied on false representations that ExpHand had legitimate 

business purposes, that Defendants made progress toward obtaining additional funding, that 

ExpHand would repay her, and that her investments would be used for legitimate purposes. 

However, the Complaint does not include specific allegations that indicate these statements 

were false at the time they were made or that Defendants knew them to be false. The Complaint 

broadly alleges that Plaintiff is informed and believes the statements made by Defendants were 

false and known to be false without any specific facts that support these conclusions. (See 

Wilhelm v. Pray, Price, Williams & Russell (1986) 186 Cal.App.3d 1324, 1331 (no fraud cause of 

action where “the complaint fails to plead with specificity a factual basis for how [the defendant] 

‘knew’ the representations...were false”).)  

Defendants also assert that the Complaint does not sufficiently plead fraudulent intent because 

Plaintiff pleads nothing more than nonperformance of a contract. (See Tenzer v. Superscope, 

Inc. (1985) 29 Cal.3d 18, 30 (“something more than nonperformance is required to prove the 

defendant’s intent not to perform his promise.”).) The Court disagrees with Defendants on this 

issue. Plaintiff satisfies this requirement, as Defendants’ history and pattern of broken promises 

alleged in the Complaint demonstrate “something more” than nonperformance. (See id. at 30 

(fraudulent intent can be inferred from “continued assurances after it was clear [defendant] 

would not perform.”).)  

Defendants also argue that the litigation privilege prevents Plaintiff from using multiple 

statements alleged in the Complaint to assert misrepresentation. “[T]he [litigation] privilege 

applies to any communication (1) made in judicial or quasi-judicial proceedings; (2) by litigants 

or other participants authorized by law; (3) to achieve the objects of the litigation; and (4) that 

have some connection or logical relation to the action.” (Home Ins. Co. v. Zurich Ins. Co. (2002) 

96 Cal.App.17, 23-24.) “[T]he privilege attaches at that point in time that imminent access to the 

courts is seriously proposed by a party in good faith for the purpose of resolving a dispute.” 

(Edwards v. Centex Estate Corp. (1997) 53 Cal.App.4th 15, 35-36.) Here, the Complaint does 

allege that Plaintiff threatened to file a lawsuit “by the end of the month” (Compl. at ¶ 47), 

however, nothing else on the face of the Complaint shows that this was anything other than a 

negotiation tactic. (See Lane v. I.U.O.E. Stationary Engineers (1989) 212 Cal.App.3d 164, 168 

(“A demurrer tests only the sufficiency of the complaint’s allegations”).) Furthermore, the 

remaining issue of “whether litigation is contemplated in good faith and under serious 

consideration is an issue of fact.” (Cornell v. Berkeley Tennis Club (2017) 18 Cal.App.5th 908, 

948.) Therefore, this issue cannot be determined on a demurrer. 

To the extent Plaintiff has failed to allege falsity with the required specificity, the Demurrer to the 

Third and Fourth Causes of Action is sustained, with leave to amend. 

Conversion (Sixth Cause of Action) 

“The elements of a conversion cause of action are (1) plaintiffs’ ownership or right to possession 

of the property at the time of the conversion; (2) defendants’ conversion by a wrongful act or 
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disposition of plaintiffs' property rights; and (3) damages.” (Baldwin v. Marina City Properties, 

Inc. (1978) 79 Cal.App.3d 393, 410.) 

It is well-established that a mere debt or contracts dispute cannot support a claim of conversion. 

(Kim v. Westmoore Partners, Inc. (2011) 201 Cal.App.4th 267, 284 (no cause of action stated 

because the “case actually involve[d] a simple creditor-debtor relationship, in which defendants 

[were] alleged to have violated their obligations to repay the subject debts”)); Plummer v. 

Day/Eisenberg, LLP (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 38, 54 (“a mere contractual right of payment, 

without more, will not suffice”); Watson v. Stockton Morris Plan Co. (1939) 34 Cal.App.2d 393, 

403 (“as a general rule...where the relationship of a debtor and creditor only exists, conversion 

of the funds representing the indebtedness will not lie against the debtor”).) 

However, while simple creditor-debtor relationships cannot support a claim for conversion, the 

unlawful use or misapplication of funds by an agent can give rise to a conversion claim. (See 

Haigler v. Donnelly (1941) 18 Cal.2d 674, 681 (citing Salem Light & Traction Co. v. Anson 

(1902) 41 Ore. 562); see also PCO, Inc. v. Christensen, Miller, Fink, Jacobs, Glaser, Weil & 

Shapiro, LLP (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 384 (“Money cannot be the subject of a cause of action for 

conversion unless there is a specific, identifiable sum involved, such as where an agent accepts 

a sum of money to be paid to another and fails to make the payment.”).)   

The Complaint alleges that Defendants used Plaintiff’s money for unauthorized purposes and 

prevented the return of her money even after multiple demands. The Complaint alleges that 

Nemirofsky is and was a bailee of Plaintiff’s funds but did not properly transfer them to ExpHand 

as Plaintiff intended. Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that in reliance on Nemirofsky’s representation 

that he would provide her funds to ExpHand, she drafted $509,000 worth of checks in his 

personal name.  

Because the Complaint alleges more than a simple creditor-debtor relationship, the Demurrer to 

the Sixth Cause of Action is overruled. 

Financial Elder Abuse (Seventh Cause of Action) 

“As provided in § 15610.30, subd. (a), financial abuse of an elder occurs when a person or entity 

does any of the following: (1) takes, secretes, appropriates, obtains, or retains real or personal 

property of an elder for a wrongful use or with intent to defraud, or both; (2) assists in taking, 

secreting, appropriating, obtaining, or retaining real or personal property of an elder for a 

wrongful use or with intent to defraud, or both; or (3) takes, secretes, appropriates, obtains, or 

retains, or assists in taking, secreting, appropriating, obtaining, or retaining, real or personal 

property of an elder by undue influence, as defined in § 15610.70.” (Mahan v. Charles W. Chan 

Ins. Agency, Inc. (2017) 14 Cal.App.5th 841, 856.) 

Apparent on the face of the Complaint are allegations that Defendants took over a million 

dollars’ worth of Plaintiff’s assets for a wrongful use, defrauded Plaintiff by entering into 

repayment agreements with no intent to repay, and exerted undue influence over Plaintiff by 

calling her personally instead of her attorney, threatening to bring lawsuits against her, and 
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using affection and leveraging friendship. The Complaint further alleges that Defendants knew 

these acts would harm Plaintiff and they did, in fact, harm her.  

Defendants cite no authority for the claim that because Plaintiff was represented by attorney, 

she is precluded from an elder abuse claim. This is unconvincing especially given the 

allegations that Defendants contacted Plaintiff personally, instead of communicating with her 

through her attorney.  

Furthermore, Defendants’ concern that allowing this claim to move forward would in effect 

sanction elder abuse claims in every lawsuit that involves a party over the age of 65 is 

unconvincing. The Complaint sets forth unique allegations that demonstrate a history of 

Defendants using questionable techniques of persuasion to get Plaintiff to invest large amounts 

of money into their business without providing any significant return.   

The Demurrer to the Seventh Cause of Action is overruled. 

Unlawful and Unfair Business Practices (Eighth Cause of Action) 

“The California Unfair Competition Law (UCL) (§ 17200) defines ‘unfair competition’ as ‘any 

unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business act or practice and unfair, deceptive, untrue, or 

misleading advertising.” (Graham v. Bank of Am., N.A. (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 594, 609.) To 

state a cause of action under Business and Professions Code section 17200, a plaintiff must 

allege the unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business practice, that she suffered injury in fact, and 

that she lost money or property as a result of the unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business act or 

practice.  (Bus. & Prof. C. § 17200, 17204; Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court (2011) 51 Cal.4th 

310, 321, 322.)  

Plaintiff opted not to rely on the “unlawful” standard (Opp. at 14:20-21), and instead, focused on 

unfairness and fraudulent business practices. The Court finds Plaintiff’s allegations of 

“unfairness” unsuccessful and the argument that the issue cannot be decided on a demurrer 

unpersuasive. However, Plaintiff does state a section 17200 claim under the fraud standard.  

Plaintiff relies on the alleged “fraudulent” practices of Defendants, including their refusal to 

honor Plaintiff’s promissory note, misrepresentations to Plaintiff regarding the state of the 

business, and misrepresentations regarding the use of Plaintiff’s investments.  

A plaintiff alleging fraudulent business practice in a section 17200 cause of action must use 

some specificity, but not as much as is required for actual deceit. (Committee on Children's 

Television, Inc. v. General Foods Corp. (1983) 35 Cal.3d 197, 212-215.); Quelimane Co. v. 

Stewart Title Guaranty Co. (1993) 19 Cal.4th 26, 47 (“fact-specific pleading” is not required); 

Gutierrez v. Carmax Auto Superstores California (2018) 19 Cal.App.5th 1234, 1261 (Section 

17200 causes of action “must be stated with reasonable particularity, which is a more lenient 

pleading standard than is applied to common law fraud claims”).) Because section 17200 

allegations are not held to the heightened pleading standard of actual deceit, the demurrer may 

not be sustained on the same basis the demurrer to the Third and Fourth Causes of Action is 

sustained. The allegations of fraudulent conduct are reasonably particular.  
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The fraud prong of the UCL also requires that “members of the public are likely to be deceived” 

by the alleged fraudulent conduct. (Schnall v. Hertz Corp. (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 1144, 1167.) 

The Complaint alleges harm to the public, specifically alleging that Defendants have treated 

other investors similarly. Therefore, the Court finds Plaintiff has plead “fraud” under section 

17200 with reasonable specificity. 

The Demurrer to the Eighth Cause of Action is overruled. 

 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN18-1358 
CASE NAME: VALENCIA  VS.  BOARD OF REGISTERED NURSING 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR WRIT OF ADMINISTRATIVE MANDATE 
FILED BY JANET ANNE BAENA VALENCIA R.N. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
            Petitioner Janet Anne Baena Valencia’s Motion for Writ of Administrative Mandate, 
pursuant to Cal. Code of Civil Procedure § 1094.5 is granted.  Petitioner’s request for attorney’s 
fees is denied. 
 
 Valencia filed this petition, pursuant to CCP § 1094.5 seeking a preemptory writ of 
administrative mandate directed at Board of Registered Nursing (“BRN”) to set aside its decision 
of May 23, 2018.  Petitioner also seeks cost of suit and reasonable attorney’s fees.   
 
 Petitioner argues the discipline against her registered nurse license and public health 
nurse certificate fails for two reasons: (1) there is no clear and convincing evidence of gross 
negligence on the part of Petitioner and (2) Petitioner’s processing of the resident’s pills at the 
non-nursing care facility was not “carrying out usual certified or licensed functions.”  Additionally, 
Petitioner argues the Board of Registered Nursing (BRN) abused its discretion and violated 
Petitioner’s due process by ordering Petitioner to pay BRN’s attorney and witness fees.  Finally, 
Petitioner argues BRN violated due process by making its decision effective immediately without 
cause. 
 
Standard of Review 
 
 “Section 1094.5 of the Code of Civil Procedure governs judicial review by administrative 
mandate of any final decision or order rendered by an administrative agency.”  (Wences v. City 
of Los Angeles (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 305, 313.)  In administrative writ review of an agency’s 
decision, the trial court’s inquiry “extends to questions of whether the respondent has proceeded 
without, or in excess of, jurisdiction; whether there was a fair trial; and whether there was any 
prejudicial abuse of discretion. Abuse of discretion is established if the respondent has not 
proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, 
or the findings are not supported by the evidence.” (Code Civ. Proc., § 1094.5, subd. (b).)”  
(Welch v. State Teachers' Retirement System (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 1, 15.)   
 
 The appropriate standard of review depends on both the type of agency that rendered 
the administrative decision and the nature of the right involved. (Rodriguez v. City of Santa Cruz 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   21 
HEARING DATE:   07/03/19 

 
 

- 30 - 

(2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 1443, 1451.)  “If the administrative decision substantially affects a 
fundamental vested right, the trial court must exercise its independent judgment on the 
evidence.” (Wences v. City of Los Angeles (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 305, 313.)  “The trial court 
must not only examine the administrative record for errors of law, but must also conduct an 
independent review of the entire record to determine whether the weight of the evidence 
supports the administrative findings.” (Ibid.)   
 
 In the context of professions and vocations, the court has recognized that an individual 
having obtained the license required to engage in a particular profession or vocation, has a 
“fundamental vested right” to continue in the profession. (Hughes v. Board of Architectural 
Examiners (1998) 17 Cal.4th 763, 788-789.  Here, Janet Valencia obtained a Registered Nurse 
license in 2000 and a Public Health Nurse Certificate in 2003.  (AR, 104, 178.)  Therefore, in its 
review, the court applies the independent judgment rule. 
 
 The trial court weighs the evidence and makes its own determination as to whether the 
administrative findings should be sustained.  (Welch v. State Teachers' Retirement System 
(2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 1, 16.)   Since a writ proceeding is merely a review of the administrative 
proceeding, the standard of proof used in the original proceeding is completely 
irrelevant.   (Ettinger v. Board of Medical Quality Assurance (1982) 135 Cal.App.3d 853, 858.)   
In reviewing the administrative record, the court must afford a strong presumption of correctness 
concerning the administrative findings, but ultimately it is free to reweigh the evidence and 
substitute its own findings.  (Roze v. Department of Motor Vehicles (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 
1176, 1184.)   In cases where the court exercises its independent judgment on the evidence, 
“abuse of discretion is established if the court determines that the findings are not supported by 
the weight of the evidence.” (Id., subd. (c).)  (Welch v. State Teachers' Retirement System 
(2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 1, 15-16.)   
 
 The “burden rests on the complaining party to convince the court that the board's 
decision is contrary to the weight of the evidence." (Italics added.) (Chamberlain v. Ventura 
County Civil Service Com. (1977) 69 Cal.App.3d 362, 368.)  “A decision which is contrary to the 
weight of the evidence is one which is contrary to the preponderance of the evidence.”  (Ibid.)  
“The function of the trial court in administrative mandamus is, therefore, to examine the 
evidence favoring the administrative determination and ‘to determine whether such evidence 
outweighs or preponderates over that adduced in opposition thereto….’ [Citation.]” (Chamberlain 
v. Ventura County Civil Service Com. (1977) 69 Cal.App.3d 362, 369-370.)     
 
BRN Lacked Clear and Convincing Evidence that Petitioner’s Training, Monitoring, and 
Supervision of Staff was an Extreme Departure from the Standard of Care    
 
 Pursuant to CA Bus. & Prof. Code § 2761, the Board may take disciplinary action against 
a licensee based on incompetence or gross negligence. Here, Petitioner argues BRN applied its 
discipline against the operator of a non-nursing facility because she happens to have a nursing 
license.  Petitioner argues the facts relating to Petitioner’s own conduct do not support a finding 
of gross negligence. BRN grounds the discipline against Petitioner’s license on an error by 
Petitioner’s employee in processing and dispensing medication.  
 
 California Business & Professions Code § 2761 provides in part:   
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The board may take disciplinary action against a certified or licensed nurse or 
deny an application for a certificate or license for any of the following: 
(a) Unprofessional conduct, which includes, but is not limited to, the following: 
(1) Incompetence, or gross negligence in carrying out usual certified or licensed 
nursing functions. 

 
 “As used in Section 2761 of the code, "gross negligence" includes an extreme departure 
from the standard of care which, under similar circumstances, would have ordinarily been 
exercised by a competent registered nurse. Such an extreme departure means the repeated 
failure to provide nursing care as required or failure to provide care or to exercise ordinary 
precaution in a single situation which the nurse knew, or should have known, could have 
jeopardized the client's health or life.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 16, § 1442.)   
 
 Petitioner argues the BRN based its discipline on a misguided view that Petitioner lacked 
“recognition that her conduct fell short of what is expected of a registered nurse”  and that she 
has not “accepted responsibility for failing to have appropriate safeguards in place so that the 
error did not occur at all, or could have been detected much sooner.”  (AR 223.)  Petitioner 
argues this was an improper basis for professional discipline. 
 
 Respondent, on the other hand, argues BRN’s factual findings are supported by the 
weight of the evidence and the decision is support by the findings.  Contrary to Petitioner’s 
argument, Petitioner is not being held vicariously liable for the acts of others.  Respondent 
argues that the finding of Petitioner’s gross negligence was based on Petitioner’s failure to 
properly train staff and to notice the mistake when she reviewed the Medication Administration 
Record (“MAR”).  Respondent maintains it is Petitioner’s inadequate training and supervision of 
her staff that the BRN based its findings of gross negligence.  Petitioner did not impress upon 
her staff the importance of reporting errors and not making MAR unintelligible.    
 
 Respondent argues that three instances demonstrate Petitioner’s gross negligence in 
training, monitoring and supervision.  (1) Staff entered incorrect prescription information on the 
MAR. (2) Petitioner’s failure to properly train, monitor, and supervise does not end with the staff 
member entering the incorrect medication dosage on the MAR.  The staff knew about the error 
for some ten days before the department’s audit, but did not report the error to Petitioner.  The 
staff member’s failure to notify Petitioner further indicates that his training was insufficient and 
substandard.  (3) The staff altered the MAR making it indecipherable. Respondent argues that 
had Petitioner reviewed the MAR, as was her admitted duty, she would have found the 
medication error.  Respondent argues these failings support the ALJ’s findings that Petitioner 
was grossly negligent.  Moreover, the expert’s credible testimony constitutes substantial 
evidence in support of the Board’s finding that Petitioner was grossly negligent. 
 
 “The purpose of an administrative proceeding concerning the revocation or suspension 
of a license is not to punish the individual; the purpose is to protect the public from dishonest, 
immoral, disreputable or incompetent practitioners. [Citations.]” (Ettinger v. Board of Medical 
Quality Assurance (1982) 135 Cal.App.3d 853, 856.)   The suspension or revocation of a 
professional license must be based on misconduct proven by clear and convincing evidence. 
(The Grubb Co., Inc. v. Department of Real Estate (2011) 194 Cal.App.4th 1494, 1502.)  At the 
administrative hearing level, to impose the discipline against Petitioner’s license, the BRN had to 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   21 
HEARING DATE:   07/03/19 

 
 

- 32 - 

find by clear and convincing evidence that Petitioner’s training, monitoring, and supervision of 
staff regarding the administration of medication to resident was an extreme departure from the 
standard of care, which would have ordinarily been exercised by a competent registered nurse. 
 
 On administrative mandamus review, the burden rests on the Petitioner to convince the 
court that the BRN’s decision is contrary to the weight of the evidence. (Chamberlain v. Ventura 
County Civil Service Com. (1977) 69 Cal.App.3d 362, 368.)    The court examines the evidence 
favoring the administrative determination “to determine whether such evidence outweighs or 
preponderates over that adduced in opposition thereto….’ [Citation.]” (Chamberlain v. Ventura 
County Civil Service Com. (1977) 69 Cal.App.3d 362, 369-370.)   
 
 Here, the evidence favoring the administrative determination is a follows. Petitioner did 
not administer medication to residents at the care facilities.  (AR 217.)  Medications were 
administered by unlicensed care staff trained, monitored and supervised by Petitioner. (AR 217.)  
It was undisputed that the Resident was under-administered medication from April 6 to May 4, 
2015.  (AR 218.)   
 
 The Administrative Law Judge found that BRN’s expert witness, Pamela Sharkey, R.N., 
MHA, credibly testified to standard care.  Ms. Sharkey stated the standard of practice for a 
registered nurse caring for residents in a residential care facility for the elderly is to monitor staff 
to make sure that they are following physician’s orders accurately.  (AR 213.) Ms. Sharkey’ 
report stated Petitioner breached the standard of care when she did not monitor the medication 
administration when the Resident’s son brought a new bottled of Metolazone into the facility.  
(AR 213.) According to Ms. Sharkey, “In that role, the nurse should ensure that the medications 
ordered are accurately reflected in the MAR.” (AR. 219.)  The fact that a resident was given one 
pill instead of two pills, as prescribed for a period of a month, was in and of itself, enough to 
establish that the person who oversaw the facility was grossly negligent.  (AR 92-93.)   It was 
Sharkey’s opinion that Petitioner knew, or should have known, that it was her duty to monitor the 
accuracy of the medication administration by the staff she managed. In her opinion, Petitioner 
acted with gross negligence in April and May 2015 by not following her own job duties and 
responsibilities of monitoring the actions of her unlicensed staff, which could have resulted in 
severe harm to the Resident.  (AR 214.)   This breach caused staff to administer the Metolazone 
erroneously daily for the month of April 2015.  Ms. Sharkey testified that a medication error, 
although it did not cause any harm, to be grossly negligent in the fact that it was a medication 
error.  (AR 81.)  
  
  The ALJ found Petitioner failed to adequately train, monitor and supervise the care staff 
which resulted in the incorrect dosage being given to the Resident.  (AR 219.)  The ALJ 
determined that the MAR itself established that Petitioner failed to provide adequate training and 
supervision.  According to the ALJ, “The MAR is unintelligible due to cross-outs and write-overs 
by care staff.  As written, it cannot be determined whether it (sic) MAR adequately reflects the 
physician’s order.  It is difficult to believe that the MAR was reviewed by a medical professional, 
as it should have raised red flags to respondent.” (AR 220.)   
 
  The evidence in opposition to the Boards’ evidence is a follows. Petitioner testified at 
the administrative hearing that she trained her staff in the proper procedure when medications 
came into the facility, including how to log the medications into the Medication Administration 
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Record (“MAR”). Petitioner testified that her staff was trained according to the regulations of the 
Department of Social Services, which included medication training.  (AR 108.) Petitioner 
maintains the employee received specialized training in medication procedures by independent 
instructors who were approved by the Community Care Licensing Division (“CCLD”) of the 
Department of Social Services.  Petitioner augmented the training.  Petitioner would keep track 
of the trainings in binder.  (AR 109.)  Petitioner also testified that she would sit down with staff 
member when first hired for a couple of hours of training; she would shadow them and make 
sure that they have met the requirements.  (AR 109.)  She testified that she would train staff on 
MARs early on in the employment.  (AR 109.)   
 
 The ALJ noted that Petitioner testified to her “custom and practice” for managing 
medications:   
 

For each new resident, she completed all required Department forms, including 
obtaining medical verification forms form the resident’s physician.  She reviewed 
all mediations [sic], and performed pill counts.  On an ongoing basis she 
reviewed the Central Log start of the new month.  Her practice was to review the 
MAR when it was prepared.  Respondent provided to her staff the medication 
management training required by the Department. 

(AR 220.)   
 
  Petitioner argues BRN’s expert witness, Ms. Sharkey, treated the employee’s error as 
creating “strict liability” against the resident care facility’s owner/operator because she happened 
to have a nursing license.  There is no clear and convincing evidence that Petitioner’s training, 
monitoring and supervision of her staff was grossly negligent.  Moreover, BRN’s investigator, 
Kyong Kim-Wong did not find any evidence that the training was in any way inadequate or that 
different training would have prevented the error.  (AR 60.) When asked, “Did you, in your 
investigation, obtain any information to suggest that Ms. Valencia did not do training of 
caregivers who worked at AJ’s?” The investigator answered, “No.”  (AR 60.)  When asked, “Are 
you aware of any evidence that the training that she provided in terms of giving medication was 
in any way inadequate?”  The investigator answered, “No.”  (AR 60.) Similarly, Petitioner claims 
there is no clear and convincing evidence that proved Petitioner’s monitoring or supervision was 
an extreme departure from usual nursing functions.  When asked “Did Ms. Redmond or anybody 
else tell you that the monitoring that Ms. Valencia did regarding administration of medications 
was insufficient?”  The investigator answered, “No.” (AR 62.)  
  
 The weight of the evidence does not support the BRN’s finding that Petitioner’s training, 
monitoring and supervision of her staff was an extreme departure from the ordinary standard of 
care.  Despite Petitioner’s testimony and the investigator’s testimony, the ALJ determined that it 
was the condition of the MAR itself that established the failure to provide the adequate training. 
The ALJ found the MAR was unintelligible because of cross-outs and write-overs. According to 
the ALJ this should have raised red flags and it is difficult to believe the MAR was reviewed by a 
medical professional.  (AR 220.)  The ALJ noted it was of further concern that the staff did not 
report the known medication error to Petitioner.  (AR 220.) However, the mere failure to discover 
a dangerous condition or perform a duty amounts to ordinary negligence.  (Anderson v. Fitness 
Internat., LLC (2016) 4 Cal.App.5th 867, 881.)   
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Petitioner’s Processing of the Resident’s Pills at the Non-nursing Care Facility was 
Substantially Connected to “Carrying out Usual Certified or Licensed Functions.”   
 
 Petitioner argues the discipline fails because the conduct supporting the license 
discipline was not part of the nursing functions.  Petitioner asserts that at the time of the only 
incident at issue, Petitioner was not acting in the capacity of a registered nurse or public health 
nurse. Petitioner served in the capacity of an owner/operator of a care home. 
 
 Petitioner argues BRN disciplined Petitioner’s personal license based on the error of the 
RCFE employee.  Petitioner argues the operations of the RCFE are within the CCLD’s 
jurisdiction, not the BRN. The employee made an error in the processing and dispensing of 
medication to a resident of a non-nursing home.  Based on this error the BRN found Petitioner 
committed “gross negligence in carrying out usual certified or licensed nursing functions with 
section 2761(a)(1).  Petitioner argues the routine processing of a refill of water pills by a 
residential care facility employee does not require substantial scientific knowledge or technical 
skill and does not satisfy that element of “usual certified or licensed nursing function.” (See 
American Nurses Assn. v. Torlakson (2013) 57 Cal.4th 570, 582.)    
 
 Respondent argued that Petitioner did not argue this position at the administrative 
hearing and did not preserve her argument, and the court should not review the issue on this 
ground. Respondent argues that exhaustion of the administrative remedy is a jurisdictional 
prerequisite to resort to the courts. (Abelleira v. District Court of Appeal (1941) 17 Cal.2d 280, 
293.) Petitioner points out that this case held that employers could not bypass administrative 
remedies to contest unemployment benefit awards.  The case did not involve “preserving the 
argument” issue.  At any rate, Petitioner did argue that a nurse is not required to process or 
dispense pills at the RCFE. And the medication at issue was a diuretic and did not require any 
particular license to be administered. 
 
  Nevertheless, Respondent argues there is a logical connection or “nexus” between the 
licensee’s conduct and the duties of the nursing profession.  (See Watson v. Superior Court 
(2009) 176 Cal.App.4th 1407, 1416.)  Respondent argues that even though an unlicensed 
person who has undergone training may distribute the medications, it is still within the practice 
of nursing when done by a registered nurse.  (See Bus. & Prof. Code § 2725(b); 16 CCR §§ 
1443.5, 1444.)  Petitioner maintains that “related” to nursing does not meet the statutory 
element of “usual licensed nursing functions” within section 2761(a)(1).   
 
 The court is not persuaded by Petitioner’s argument. Bus. & Prof. Code § 2725 provides 
in part: 
 

(b) The practice of nursing within the meaning of this chapter means those 
functions, including basic health care, that help people cope with difficulties in 
daily living that are associated with their actual or potential health or illness 
problems or the treatment thereof, and that require a substantial amount of 
scientific knowledge or technical skill, including all of the following: 
  
(2) Direct and indirect patient care services, including, but not limited to, the 
administration of medications and therapeutic agents…   
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  “[T]he Board's authority to take disciplinary action against a licensed nurse derives from 
the state's inherent power to regulate the use of property to preserve public health, morals, 
comfort, order[,] and safety.” (Moustafa v. Board of Registered Nursing (2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 
1119, 1137-1138.) There is a logical connection between Petitioner’s monitoring and 
supervision of the administration of medication and the functions of duties of nursing.    
 
BRN’s Order for Petitioner to Pay BRN’s Attorney’s and Witness Fees Violates 
Petitioner’s Due Process 
 
 The BRN ordered Petitioner to pay investigation and enforcement costs of $4,215.00.  
Petitioner argues the order is invalid. Petitioner argues Bus. & Prof. Code § 125.3 is either 
unconstitutional on its face, or, at a minimum, it violates due process as applied to these 
circumstances.  Bus. & Prof. Code § 125.3 provides:   
 

(a) Except as otherwise provided by law, in any order issued in resolution of a 
disciplinary proceeding before any board within the department or before the 
Osteopathic Medical Board, upon request of the entity bringing the 
proceeding, the administrative law judge may direct a licentiate found to have 
committed a violation or violations of the licensing act to pay a sum not to 
exceed the reasonable costs of the investigation and enforcement of the 
case. 
  

 The Board of Registered Nursing is part of the Department of Consumer Affairs.  (Bus. & 
Prof. Code § 101(m).)  The Board established it incurred the costs.  (ALJ’s Findings 29 and 
30(b).   
 
 Respondents argues that Section 125.3 is not unconstitutional.  Section 125.3 is almost 
identical to section 317.5, which was found constitutional in Zuckerman v. State Bd. of 
Chiropractic Examiners (2002) 29 Cal.4th 32.  In Zuckerman, the Supreme Court found a 
distinction between section 317.5 and Education Code § 44944 at issue in California Teachers 
Assn. v. State of California (1999) 20 Cal.4th 327. “At issue in CTA was a mandatory provision 
that imposed hearing costs ‘upon all teachers who ultimately prove unsuccessful at any step in 
the proceedings . . . .’ (CTA, supra, 20 Cal. 4th at p. 342, fn. 8, italics added.) Regulation 317.5, 
by contrast, is merely discretionary, because the administrative law judge must determine 
whether the Board's costs are "reasonable," and the Board may "reduce or eliminate" the 
administrative law judge's cost award. (Reg. 317.5, subd. (c).)” (Zuckerman v. State Bd. of 
Chiropractic Examiners (2002) 29 Cal.4th 32, 44.)   
   
 Like 317.5, Bus. & Prof. Code § 125.3(d) gives the Board discretion to reduce or 
eliminate the cost award and the costs may be judicially reviewed.  Respondent argues the ALJ 
did not abuse its discretion in ordering Petitioner to pay its investigation and enforcement costs. 
In fact, the total costs were reduced by over half.   
 
 Petitioner argues there are ample grounds to find BRN violated dues process in 
imposing the costs.  First, in the Accusation, BRN for prayed for suspension or revocation of 
Petitioner’s registered nurse license and public health nurse certificate. (AR 7.)  The Board 
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rejected both. The BRN even rejected probation. (AR 223.)  Also, the BRN found that one of the 
grounds for discipline was factually incorrect. (AR 218.)  Although the BRN ordered public 
reproval, Petitioner argues she had a good faith belief in her defense.   
 
  Respondent argues the ALJ sustained the one cause for discipline in the Accusation. It 
argues the costs of investigation and prosecution cannot be divided, severed, or segmented to 
correspond with allegations. (Imports Performance v. Department of Consumer Affairs, Bureau 
of Automotive Repair (2011) 201 Cal.App.4th 911, 921.)     
 
 “The superior court may overturn the Board's cost award if it finds, in the exercise of its 
independent judgment, that the Board's cost award is not supported by the weight of the 
evidence.”  (Zuckerman v. State Bd. of Chiropractic Examiners (2002) 29 Cal.4th 32, 45.)  Bus. 
& Prof. Code § 125.3 provides, “the administrative law judge may direct a licentiate found to 
have committed a violation or violations of the licensing act to pay a sum not to exceed the 
reasonable costs of the investigation and enforcement of the case…”   
 
 “Where the Legislature vests in the administrative body the power to select the proper 
penalty to be imposed, its decision may not be set aside unless there has been a clear abuse of 
discretion.”  (Cadilla v. Board of Medical Examiners (1972) 26 Cal.App.3d 961, 967.) “The 
superior court reviews the penalty for abuse of discretion but may not substitute its discretion for 
that of the agency in the matter of form of discipline.” (James v. Board of Dental Examiners 
(1985) 172 Cal.App.3d 1096, 1110.)  An “abuse of discretion is established if the court 
determines that the findings are not supported by the weight of the evidence.” (Id., subd. (c).)  
(Welch v. State Teachers' Retirement System (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 1, 15-16.)  As discussed 
above, the court found the weight of the evidence did not support the Boards’ finding of gross 
negligence, thus no findings support revocation or suspension Petitioner’s license. Thus, the 
impositions of costs are an abuse of discretion as there is no finding that the 
“licentiate…committed a violation or violations of the licensing act.” 
 
BRN’s Order Made Effective Immediately Did Not Violate Due Process 
 
 BRN issued its Order on May 23, 2018, effective on that date.  Petitioner argues there 
was no evidence of danger to the public or urgency shown to make the Order effective 
immediately.  Petitioner argues simultaneous issuance and effectiveness of the decision 
deprived the licensee of the statutory right to seek reconsideration provided in Gov. Code § 
11521.  (AR 227.)  She also argues the “insidious tactic” reduced the time to seek an alternative 
writ. Respondent argues that Petitioner cites no case or statute to support her position.  
 
 Gov. Code § 11519(a) provides, “The decision shall become effective 30 days after it is 
delivered or mailed to respondent unless: a reconsideration is ordered within that time, or the 
agency itself orders that the decision shall become effective sooner, or a stay of execution is 
granted. (Emphasis added.) 
 
 (Gov. Code, § 115 21 provides, “The power to order a reconsideration shall expire 30 
days after the delivery or mailing of a decision to a respondent, or on the date set by the agency 
itself as the effective date of the decision if that date occurs prior to the expiration of the 30-day 
period…” (Emphasis added.) 
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 Petitioner has not demonstrated violation of due process. 
 
Petitioner’s Request for Attorney’s Fees is Denied 
 
 Petitioner argues the BRN engaged in arbitrary and capricious conduct in the following 
ways:  by praying for revocation of her nursing license and certificate and ordering her to pay 
costs; by depriving her of the 30-day reconsideration period; and by restricting the time and 
ability to seek judicial review.  Petitioner argues the arbitrary and capricious conduct warrant an 
award of attorney fees pursuant to Government Code § 800. 
 
 Petitioner has not established Respondent’s conduct was entirely arbitrary and 
capricious.  That is, Petitioner has not established, the BRN’s conduct lacked any reasonable 
basis whatsoever. (Gunn v. Employment Development Dep't (1979) 94 Cal.App.3d 658, 665.)  It 
was established that one of Petitioner’s residents was under medicated for nearly a month.  
There was a rational basis for the Board’s formal accusation. 

 

  

13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN19-0821 
CASE NAME: SMARTSHEET METAL WORKERS  VS.  MECHANICAL DRAFT & DESIGN 
HEARING ON PETITION TO CONFIRM ARBITRATION AWARD 
FILED BY SMARTSHEET METAL WORKERS LOCAL UNION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Unopposed petition to confirm arbitration award is granted.  Petitioner is entitled to costs and 
may bring a post-judgment motion for attorney’s fees. 
 

  

14.  TIME:  9:01   CASE#: MSC18-01927 
CASE NAME: BELCHER VS. CSAA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE PLAINTIFF’S 2nd Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY CSAA INSURANCE SERVICES, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant’s motion to strike is moot in light of the ruling on demurrer.  See Line 6. 

 

 

 
ADD-ON 
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15.  TIME:  9:02   CASE#: MSC16-01956 
CASE NAME: TRUONG VS. JOHN MUIR 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The compromise relating to a disabled adult is approved.  The court will sign the order provided. 

 

 

 


